

Patron: HRH Princess Royal Octavia House, 54 Ayres Street, London, SE1 1EU Tel: +44 (0)20 7404 1999 Fax: +44 (0)20 7067 1267 www.rcem.ac.uk

# The Terms of Reference for Council and its Committees, Sub-Committees, Special Interest Groups, and Working Groups

Status for approval Approved by the Board March 2023, updated by Trustee Board 29 June 2023.

# **Amendment log**

Issue	Issue Date	Additions/Alterations	Initials
1.0	March 2017	First version	GM
1.1	July 2017	For Council Approval	GM
1.2	June 2019	Proposed revisions for Council approval, updated EMTA, FASSGEM following Council approval in 2018 and minor amendments generally.	GM
1.3	June 2019	Addition of Paediatric Emergency Care Special Interest Group and EM Leaders Project Group, minor adjustment to Executive Committee TOR reflecting quorum.	GM
1.3	July 2019	Council approved updated version to include alteration to Exec quorum	GM
1.4		Addition of Environmental SIG & PHEM Committee	GM
1.5	September 2020	Update with minor edits, revised structure chart, addition of Groups: Anti Bullying SIG, PEM PAG, PHEMPAG, EDI Committee & Women In EM SIG Update to EMTA TOR. Additional clause para 33 page 9. Approved by Council 17 September 2020.	GM
2.0	Annual Review June 2021	Updating ahead of new Trustee Board to reflect new delegations, new Corporate Governance TOR as approved by Council;	GM
		adding ESIG Green ED Working Group as approved by Council;	
		updating RCEM Foundation to RCEM Fundraising as approved by Council;	
		updated Regional & National Board TORs as approved by Council;	
		adding in new MRCEM sub-Committees and adjustments to FRCEM Sub-Committees to reflect Curriculum changes;	
		adding new Education Skills Sub-Committee;	
		adding new Ultrasound Education & Training Sub-Committee (UETSC);	
		updating RCEMlearning Editorial Board;	
		Adding new Recruitment Sub-Committee	
		and various minor edits.	
3.0	Updating some TORs	Creation of Trustee Board TOR	GM
		Minor edits to: Council, Corporate Governance Committee.	

Change of name of FASGEM to EMSAS

Edits to ACP Forum TOR re Regional Representation

Added Expert Advisory Group in the use of the SNAP Regime to treat paracetamol toxicity in Children

Branding update

Elderly and frailty SIG renamed Older People in EM

Antibullying Task & Finish Group removed as project has delivered, TOR for new working group being established to drive forward the RespectED campaign.

Edit to Conference Committee Membership to reflect EDI and EMSAS co-options

QEC and Service Delivery Cluster merged to create The Quality Cluster

Invited Service Review Committee moved under Quality Cluster

ESIG and Green ED moved under Quality Cluster as subcommittees of Service Design & Delivery Committee

Women In Emergency Medicine Committee moved into Membership Cluster and renamed Gender Equity Committee

Addition of Guidelines for Provision of Emergency Medicine Services GPEMS Project Steering Group placeholder as TOR under development

Addition of Consultants Committee placeholder into Membership Cluster

Change to NomCom quorum, reducing from five to four and adding in two additional Committee members drawn from the College Membership.

Emergency Medicine Foundation Programme removed as now simply a faculty delivering a programme.

EM Leaders Project Board Terms of Reference removed as the project has delivered. Now this is a business-as-usual service a new Terms of Reference for EM Leaders is under development.

New ResepctED & Incivility Task & Finish Group as subgroup of SWPC

Updating of EDI Committee remit

EM Leaders Project Groups removed

	Added Sustainable Working Practices Committee: Short Life Working Party looking at the older emergency clinician.  Redesign of Academic Cluster & International Cluster	
3.1	Change of RemCo reporting lines – to be directly to the Board  Abolition of the Expert Advisory Group in the use of the SNAP Regime to treat paracetamol toxicity in Children as its work has completed.	GM

# **Contents**

Amendment log	2
ABOUT THIS DOCUMENT	6
GENERAL TERMS OF REFERENCE	7
General Terms of Reference Conditions Precedent	7
COUNCIL	11
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE	13
Guidelines for Provision of Emergency Medicine Services (GPEMS) Project	Steering Group 15
National Boards for Scotland, Wales, and Northern Ireland	16
Regional Boards	17
ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT CLUSTER:	18
Equity Diversity & Inclusivity Committee	18
Honours Committee	19
RCEM Fundraising Advisory Board	20
Respect ED Working Group	23
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE	25
ACADEMIC CLUSTER	30
Academic Committee	30
Careers Committee	33
Research Committee	35
Exams Committee	39
Educational Resource Committee	41
eLearning Committee	42
Ultrasound Committee	43
Training Standards Committee	45
Curriculum Sub-Committee	48
Advanced Clinical Practitioners Credentialling Committee	50
CESR Committee	52

Recruitment Committee	
Global Emergency Medicine Committee	
MEMBERSHIP & PROFESSIONAL MATTERS CLUSTER	
Consultants Committee	
Emergency Medicine Advanced Clinical Practitioners' Forum (ACP Forum)	
Emergency Medicine Physicians Associates' Forum (PA Forum)	
Emergency Medicine Trainees' Association (EMTA)	
Forum for EM Specialty And Specialist Doctors (EMSAS)	
Sustainable Working Practices Committee	
Sustainable Working Practices Committee: Short Life Working Party looking at the old clinician	
Gender Equity Committee	73
LAY ADVISORY GROUP	74
NOMINATIONS & APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE	75
QUALITY CLUSTER	78
Informatics Committee	78
Service Design & Configuration Committee	80
Environmental Special Interest Group	82
Environmental Special Interest Group: GreenED Working Group	83
Same Day Emergency Care Special Interest GroupQuality In Emergency Care Committee	
Best Practice Sub-Committee	86
Expert Advisory Group in the use of the SNAP Regime to treat paracetamol toxicity in <b>Bookmark not defined.</b>	n Children. <b>Error!</b>
Older People in Emergency Medicine SIG	87
Public Health EM SIG	87
Toxicology SIGInvited Service Review Sub-Committee	
Mental Health Sub Committee	89
Paediatric Emergency Medicine Professional Advisory Group	89
Pre-Hospital Emergency Medicine Professional Advisory Group	
Quality Assurance & Improvement Sub-Committee	
Safer Care Sub-Committee	
Trustee Board	
Remuneration Sub-Committee	98

### ABOUT THIS DOCUMENT

This document contains the Terms Of Reference (ToR) for the various Committees of the Royal College of Emergency Medicine.

Under our Ordinances<sup>1</sup> the Board of Trustees may:

"Establish such boards, standing and ad hoc committees or sub-committees for the purpose of dealing with any subject as it may from time to time determine.

The Board of Trustees shall have power to determine by Byelaws the constitution and procedures of such boards, committees or sub-committees.

The Board of Trustees may by resolution delegate all or any of its functions, powers, duties and discretions to any body, board, committee, sub-committee, Officer or individual upon terms and subject to such conditions as the Board may from time to time, by resolution, determine."

Over time a range of Committees has been established and each has had an individual terms of reference document created for it. Given that a number of these have similar content for good governance purposes and ease of reference this document draws all of the together into one place.

In future any new Committees or amendments to the content of this document shall be considered by the Corporate Governance Committee who will, if appropriate recommend that the Board approves the revised document.

This document shall be maintained by an employee of the Royal College as nominated by the Chief Executive.

Gordon Miles Chief Executive 29 March 2023

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Royal College of Emergency Medicine Ordinances Paragraph 8

#### GENERAL TERMS OF REFERENCE

### **General Terms of Reference Conditions Precedent**

- 1. Each Committee, Sub-Committee and Working Party shall have a Terms of Reference.
- 2. A Committee is a body of one or more persons that is subordinate to Council or the Board of Trustees. Usually, the Council or Board of Trustees sends matters into a committee to explore them more fully than would be possible if the Council/Board itself were considering them.
- 3. A Sub-committee is a committee that reports to another Committee.
- 4. A Working Party/Group is a committee that is established for a limited time to develop and/or review areas of policy, procedure and practice and put forward suggestions for the Council to consider.
- 5. A Special Interest Group (SIG) or Professional Advisory Group (PAG) is a small community with a shared interest in advancing a specific area of knowledge, learning or technology where members cooperate to affect or to produce solutions within their field, and may communicate, meet, and organise conferences or study days. All SIG/PAGs shall be formed under the auspices of a Committee, with responsibility for that PAG/SIG falling under the chair of the relevant Committee.
- 6. References to a 'Cluster' reflects the structuring of Committees into groups or clusters of Committees under a role holder or role holders led by a Cluster Responsible Officer who will be either a Vice President or other College Role Holder or the CEO or nominated deputy.
- 7. All College Committees and Working Parties shall have Terms of Reference conforming to our governing documents. Normally requests for new Committees or Working Groups/Parties are considered by the Executive Committee, scrutinised by Corporate Governance Committee and a recommendation is made to Council or the Board of Trustees accordingly.
- 8. All Committees and Working Parties shall have a clear reporting structure, ultimately leading to Council or directly to the Trustee Board. They shall report their activity at least annually. The Composition of a Committee is determined as set out in each Terms of Reference.
- 9. In the remainder of this section, the term Committee shall relate to all Committees, Sub-Committees, SIGs, PAGs and Working Parties/Groups unless otherwise stated.
- 10. Any Committee has the power to co-opt additional Members to make up the required number of Committee Members that are described in that Committee's Terms of Reference.
- 11. For ease of reference and to avoid duplication the following shall apply to every Committee, unless otherwise stated in the specific Terms of Reference for an individual Committee.

#### **Governing Documents**

12. In relation to the terms of reference, the Governing Documents are the Charter, Ordinances, Bye Laws, Regulations and the Scheme of Delegation.

#### **Delegated Powers:**

- 13. No Committee has delegated powers to make decisions on behalf of the College unless expressly stated in the Terms of Reference for that Committee. The Scheme of Delegation sets out the powers the Trustee Board delegates to Council in relation to Committees and to role holders.
- 14. Committees shall prepare for Council or Trustee Board scrutiny annual Work Programmes detailing their planned activity.
- 15. A budget (if required) shall be agreed through the College Treasurer under the standing financial procedures. The Chair of a Committee has budget responsibility for the activities of that Committee in accordance with the standing Financial Procedures of the Royal College. The Committee Secretary shall act as deputy budget holder.

#### **Committee Chair/Member appointment**

- 16. Unless otherwise stated in the Charter, Ordinances, Bye Laws or Terms Of Reference for an individual Committee, Members and Chairs of Committees are appointed by a selection process involving open advertising. This process may be overseen by the Nominations & Appointments Committee at the request of the Cluster Responsible Officer to assist with Committee Chair appointments.
- 17. Selection panels shall form comprised of at least 3 members including the Committee Secretary or nominated deputy as authorised by the parent committee or the Cluster Responsible Officer. The selection panel will create a Role Profile and Person Specification for each Committee role aligned to the Terms Of Reference for that Committee. Up to two selection panel members may be drawn from the existing Committee, other panel members may come from the parent Committee, Executive Committee and/or Corporate Governance Committee, Council, Trustee Board or as directed by the Chief Executive from the College Management.
- 18. The selection panel will decide the appointments by reviewing the applications against the person specification and role profile and holding interviews where appropriate.
- 19. The Committee Secretary shall:
  - a. liaise with the Cluster Responsible Officer and Selection Panel to review the Role Profile and Person Specification for the role.
  - b. arrange for the role to be advertised on our website and liaise with College communications personnel to raise awareness of the vacancy.
- 20. If advertising for members or Chairs proves unsuccessful the Committee may co-opt members into these positions subject to approval by the Executive Committee as stated in the bye laws.
- 21. For new Committees, the terms of reference will then be developed through the Committee and come to Council for approval, via Corporate Governance Committee for scrutiny.
- 22. For Committees in existence at the point where these Terms of Reference are approved, the existing Committee Members and Chairs may continue for the remainder of their existing term of office.

#### **Committee Secretary**

- 23. A Committee Secretary will normally be an employee of the College who is assigned the role by the Chief Executive. Where there is no staff member available for this role then the Committee may appoint one of its number to be secretary for the meeting in question or approach the Chief Executive to seek out-sourced Committee support for minute taking or other administrative help (subject to budget availability).
- 24. The Committee Secretary will arrange meetings, take minutes, act as deputy budget holder and working with the Committee Chair prepare Agendas, collate and distribute papers and advise on any governance arrangements including recruitment.
- 25. Committee secretaries shall produce draft minutes of their meetings within 14 days of each meeting and these will be circulated to all members, including ex-officio members, whether they attended the meeting or not. The draft minutes will then be brought to the next meeting for approval and/or amendment.
- 26. The Committee Secretary is a non-voting role at the Committee.

#### **Terms of Office**

- 27. Terms of Office are for three years.
- 28. Suggested succession planning for committee Chairs is that appointment occurs 6-12 months prior to the expected handover date, with the chair elect acting as a deputy, As a chair steps down, it may be reasonable, at the discretion of the new chair, for them to act as a deputy for a further 6-12 months to facilitate continuity. This does not preclude formal appointment of another deputy should that be deemed required as part of the Terms of Reference.

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

- 29. Where a new committee is formed consideration should be given to one of the College Executive Committee acting as a co-chair, should this be deemed beneficial.
- 30. Committee Members may serve up to two consecutive terms on a particular Committee, after which they shall step down unless as otherwise approved by Council, or in the case of the Corporate Governance or Executive Committee by the Trustee Board. Having stepped down for one term of office they may reapply after that. If during a term of office, a Committee Member becomes a Chair then the following paragraph applies and the rules under this paragraph are disregarded.
- 31. Subject to the Bye Laws, Chairs of Committees shall normally serve for an initial term of office following their appointment, after which they may offer themselves for re-appointment in competition with others. If re-appointed, they may serve for a further term, after which they will not be eligible to stand for the post in question but may sit on the Committee as a member for a further term subject to Council approval.
- 32. RCEM Role Holders are appointed to Committees for their term of office and on a change of office holder the position rotates with the office not the individual.

#### **Committee composition**

- 33. The composition of a Committee is determined by Council or the Board of Trustees, as set out in each Terms of Reference. Unless otherwise stated in the Terms of Reference the number of Committee Members shall not exceed 12 persons including the Chairperson.
- 34. In the absence of the Chair, a Deputy, either by appointment by the Chair or nominated from amongst the Committee Members present shall act as Chair for that meeting and may vote at that meeting.
- 35. Individuals standing on Committees have a personal responsibility to be present (either in person or through appropriate media) for two thirds of all meetings. Such individuals are expected to take on a stream of work such as preparing documents, gathering information, attend meetings, providing Royal College approved advice to individuals or organisations and to complete activities in a timely fashion. Council or the Trustee Board may remove Committee Members who fail to meet these requirements.
- 36. The following role holders may attend any Committee meeting of the College as an ex-officio member: President, Trustees, Vice Presidents, Dean, Treasurer and Chief Executive (or nominated deputy) and by agreement with the Chief Executive the Directors of Corporate Services, Education and Engagement & External Affairs.
- 37. Consideration should be given, upon formation of a new committee, as to whether specific representation from EMTA, EMSAS, ACP Forum or from EDI/GEC is required. This should be balanced against the practicalities of fielding such representatives in multiple forums and of narrowing opportunities for participation amongst the wider membership.

#### Quorum

38. Unless otherwise stated in the terms of reference or elsewhere in the governing documents: a) the quorum shall include the Chair or nominated Deputy and those present in person and those using an electronic communication method to join the meeting; and b) for a Committee the quorum shall be at least half the number of Committee Members of that Committee, whether they are present or not.

#### **Conducting business**

- 39. To conduct business and make decisions Committee members will either be present in person or using electronic conferencing facilities, or where this is not practical decisions may be made by email or other electronic media.
- 40. Decisions will normally be made by agreement but where a vote is necessary this will be indicated by a show of hands or a suitable electronic equivalent. In the event of a tie the Chair has a deciding

- vote. In the absence of the Chair, a Deputy nominated either by the Chair or from amongst the Committee Members shall act as Chair for that meeting and may vote at that meeting.
- 41. Individuals standing on Committees have a personal responsibility to take on a stream of work such as preparing documents, gathering information, providing Royal College approved advice to individuals or organisations and to complete activities in a timely fashion.

#### COUNCIL

Remit of the Council

#### **Objectives**

To work within the powers delegated to it by the Board of Trustees.

To ratify applications for membership of the Royal College;

To make decisions on behalf of the Royal College on matters relating to emergency medicine specialty business:

To oversee all work of the Committees of the Royal College that do not report directly to the Board of Trustees and delegate work as necessary in the fulfilment of the charitable objects subject to the powers set out in the Scheme of Delegation;

Delegate relevant powers to Committees and individuals as described in the Scheme of Delegation or the governing documents;

Create Regulations for the business of the Royal College.

#### Quorum

The voting arrangements are as defined in the ordinances: The quorum is 12 voting members of Council of which at least 3 shall be Role Holders.

#### Membership

The composition of the Council is described in the Ordinances. The Term of Office for Council Members is 3 years.

Role holders are appointed under the Ordinances and Bye Laws.

- President. The President shall be the Chair or, in his/her absence, the President Elect (or Immediate Past President) is to chair the meeting.
- President Elect (or Immediate Past President)
- Vice Presidents
- Vice President Membership
- Dean
- Treasurer

Other Council Members who are appointed as described below:

- Chair Training Standards Committee (TSC) who is nominated by the TSC and appointed by Council
- Chair Research Committee who is nominated by the R&P committee, appointed by Council
- Chair of the Quality In Emergency Care Committee, who is appointed by Council
- Director of CPD who is appointed by Council
- Chairs Regional Boards in England who are elected subject to the Bye Laws by Fellows, Associate Fellows and Members (excluding Honorary Fellows, Associate Members and Affiliates)
- National Vice Presidents National Boards of Scotland, Northern Ireland, Wales and the Republic of Ireland who are elected subject to the Bye Laws by Fellows, Associate Fellows and Members (excluding Honorary Fellows, Associate Members and Affiliates)

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

- Emergency Medicine Trainees Association (EMTA) Chair who is elected by the members in training
- Emergency Medicine Staff And Specialists (EMSAS) Chair who is elected by the members of the Royal College working as Staff or Specialty doctors
- Advanced Clinical Practitioners Forum Chair who is elected by Associate Members (Advanced Clinical Practitioners)
- Corporate Governance Committee Chair who is appointed under the terms of reference for that Committee
- Chair of the College Lay Group who is appointed by Council
- Representatives of other Royal Colleges by invitation of Council
- Representative of the Faculty of Emergency Nursing by invitation of Council
- Representative from the Faculty of Pre-hospital Emergency Medicine by invitation of Council
- Chief Executive
- Directors
- The Council may co-opt other members as it sees fit to conduct its business.

#### Responsibilities

Direct and monitor the work of the Committees and of Royal College specialty matters

Receive reports from committees of the Royal College and the President and Chief Executive

Determine emergency medicine policy for the Royal College

Respond to external developments and influences and provide Royal College position papers and advice for members

Ensure timely communication with members on developments within the Royal College

By resolution amend Regulations for the Royal College within the power of the Charter and Ordinances

Approve Council role holder and other Council Member appointments in accordance with the governing documents.

Approve nominations for membership and approve the removal of membership rights where appropriate Make recommendations on the level of subscriptions for members

#### Meetings

As defined in the Ordinances, meetings are held at least 4 times a year.

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

#### **EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE**

Remit of the Executive Committee which reports to the Trustee Board

To develop emergency medicine health policy and strategy for discussion and approval by Council and the Board of Trustees.

To act in accordance with the policy, strategy and budget agreed by Board of Trustees and Council to ensure that the Board and Council decisions are enacted, including:

To support the CEO and Directors with the work of the Royal College including providing advice on issues

To provide the Council with relevant information to support strategic decision making in relation to specialty matters.

#### **Quorum & Business**

The President shall be the Chair or, in his/her absence, the President Elect (or Immediate Past President) is to chair the meeting.

The quorum for the Executive Committee must have the minimum attending:

- President or President Elect or Past President
- At least 4 other Committee members one of whom must be a Vice President.

#### Membership

Membership of this Committee comprises:

President - Chair

President Elect (or Immediate Past President)

Vice President - Membership

Dean

Treasurer

Vice Presidents (2)

Vice President - Wales

Vice President - Scotland

Vice President - Northern Ireland

Vice President - Policy

Chair of Research Committee

Chair, Quality in Emergency Care Committee

Chief Executive

Directors of Corporate Services, Education, Engagement & External Affairs

CEO's Executive Assistant (Ex-Officio Committee Secretary)

Any additional co-opted member as authorised by Council

Ex-officio members will be invited to relevant meetings but they will not have any voting rights.

#### Powers delegated

To action powers delegated by the Trustee Board

Assist the Chief Executive with the co-ordination and implementation of the work of the Royal College to implement Council decisions and policies.

Develop policy and strategy for discussion and approval by Council

Ensure that Council policy, Board strategy and decisions are implemented

Ensure swift response to communications from the membership

Enable effective responses to events, communications and consultations from other agencies.

Deal with media enquiries (through nominated members of the Executive)

Act on advice from the Corporate Governance committee in matters of governance

Receive regular reports on Royal College activities

Provide advice to Committee Chairs and Officers

Organise elections.

Provide information to the Council for strategic decisions to be taken

### **Meetings**

Meetings are held between 6 and 10 times per year. Where possible they will be arranged to coincide with other Royal College committee meetings, such as those of other major committees, and if members are unable to attend they should be encouraged to join the meeting by teleconferencing.

# **Guidelines for Provision of Emergency Medicine Services (GPEMS) Project Steering Group**

#### Remit

To plan the design, development and deliverance of a guideline document for the Emergency Medicine Service.

To develop a definitive guidance document to minimise heterogeneity between Emergency Departments. GPEMS will be the definitive reference source for planning and delivery of UK Type-1 Emergency Medicine Services. The document will assist healthcare managers with service design and delivery, and give senior EM clinicians clarity about their roles and responsibilities.

#### Membership

- o President
- o Vice-President (International)
- o Vice-President (Quality & Service Design)
- o Quality rep
- o SDC rep
- o Lay rep
- o 1x member via open application
- o Research Manager (Ex-Officio Committee Secretary)
- o Associate Director of Quality and Research (Ex-Officio)

6 meetings of the steering group are expected between Jan 2023 – Jun 2024. These meetings can take place virtually or in-person. If members are unable to attend in-person, they should be encouraged to join the meeting via teleconferencing.

### National Boards for Scotland, Wales, and Northern Ireland

#### **Remit and Objectives**

The National Boards of Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland will represent the College in their respective nations and support the work of the College by:

- Coordinating and collating information on local issues and dissemination of information from College to membership
- Liaising on behalf of the speciality with existing bodies and structures in their nations.
- The National Boards will have the authority to establish its own connections and representations with appropriate bodies.

#### Membership

- The Vice President
- Vice Chair
- Chairs of Regional Training Committees or Schools of EM or other equivalent bodies
- A Fellow responsible for CPD
- A fellow leading on advice for revalidation
- Other Fellows locally elected or nominated according to arrangements proposed by the Board and approved by Council.
- Trainee representative
- EMSAS representative

Other individuals may be asked to attend Board meetings from time to time but they will not be core Board members.

#### Meetings

Meetings may take place on a quarterly basis.

Optionally, the Board can choose to hold more meetings on a needs-be basis, or hold other events including, but not limited to, conferences or annual dinners.

### **Regional Boards**

#### **Remit and Objectives**

The Regional Boards will represent their localities and support the work of the College by:

- Creating a communication channel whereby Board members will update the Chair on any relevant information or experiences which can then be relayed back to RCEM national Council
- Raising awareness of the pressures facing Emergency Departments and Emergency Medicine staff on a regional level.
- Providing a space where different learning and pathways can be shared to help members in their roles or to be disseminated back to Emergency Departments.
- Disseminating relevant updates from RCEM Council back to Board members, who will then cascade this information back into the region.
- Support the Regional Chair's local campaign efforts whether that is through media activity or through influencing policymakers and other key stakeholders.
- Hosting meetings or working on projects that bring attention to important regional issues and topics.
- Supporting the Regional Chair in their activities and duties.

#### Membership

The Regional Boards will be composed of:

- Regional Chair
- Vice Chair
- Trainee representative
- EMSAS Representative
- ACP Trainee Representative
- SWPC Representative
- Lay Group Representative
- 1-2 representatives from each NHS Trust in the region

Other individuals may be asked to attend Board meetings from time to time but they will not be core Board members.

There is flexibility for other types of representatives on the Board depending on the interests of the region (for example, a PEM Representative).

#### Meetings

Meetings may take place on a quarterly basis. These meetings can take place virtually or in-person. If members are unable to attend in-person, they should be encouraged to join the meeting via teleconferencing.

Optionally, Regional Chairs can choose to hold more meetings on a needs-be basis, or hold other events including, but not limited to, conferences or annual dinners subject to budget approval

#### ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT CLUSTER:

# **Equity Diversity & Inclusivity Committee**

This Committee shall report directly to Council.

Objectives and Remit

To establish a work programme to address EDI issues across the following areas:

#### For the College

- Foster and facilitate a culture of open honest communication about equality, diversity, and inclusion issues.
- Commit to continuous self-reflection and (un)learning at both individual and institutional level.
- Provide guidance to ensure that College processes are both inclusionary and equitable.
- Encourage diverse representation at all College committees.
- Where appropriate, respond to requests for comments from Council, its Boards, Committees and Members.

#### For the membership

- Increase awareness of issues surrounding intersectional equity, diversity and representation within the College, the Specialty and wider NHS by collating and sharing staff disparity data.

Construct and implement solutions to mitigate the negative consequences of conscious and unconscious bias, with the aim of improving the experiences of our members, and consequently, our patients.

- Dismantle and re-design structures, systems and policies that may be upholding inequity within training, curriculum, and examinations.
- Develop and implement evidence-based strategies to promote wellness, career sustainment, and career progression of minoritized staff.

#### Membership

The EDI Committee will consist of:

- VP membership
- Committee Chair/Co-Chairs
- EMTA rep
- EMSAS rep
- ACP Forum rep
- Member (appointed)
- Fellow (appointed)
- Lay Committee Member
- Membership will also include 4 appointed members
- Chief Executive and Director of Education

Up to four other members appointed or co-opted as required, subject to budget constraints.

Where possible the membership should be as diverse as possible and aim to ensure that there is good regional representation from across the UK.

As its work plan develops the Committee is encouraged to propose to Council that additional working groups on specific relevant projects are established.

#### Meetings

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

Meetings may take place on a quarterly basis. If members are unable to attend, they should be encouraged to join the meeting by teleconferencing.

#### Quorum

The quorum shall be four members, at least one of which should be a Fellow of the College.

### **Honours Committee**

The objective of the Honours Committee is to coordinate matters relating to national and College honours on behalf of the Royal College. The Honours Committee reports to the Council.

#### Membership

Membership of this Committee comprises:

Chair who is the Chair of the Lay Group (who may delegate this role to another Lay Group member subject to Council approval)

UK Fellow(s) up to two who may be self-nominated and/or co-opted

Vice President

Chief Executive

Administrator (Ex-Officio) The Administrator is an ex-officio member appointed by the Chief Executive and will attend the meeting to record the minutes. The Administrator will not have any voting rights.

The Committee Chair, acting with the support of the Honours Committee, has the power to co-opt up to two additional members

#### Responsibilities and powers delegated by Council

- i) To establish criteria for the Royal College nomination of worthy individuals for a national honour.
- To receive, identify and make nominations on behalf of the Royal College of persons worthy of a nomination for a national honour.
- iii) To receive, identify and make nominations to Council persons considered worthy of an Honorary Fellowship of the Royal College
- iv) To make recommendations and issue guidance as the Committee may consider appropriate to Council on the conferment of honours, medals and other Royal College awards.

#### Meetings

Meetings are held at up to twice a year and business may also be transacted by email or telephone conference call as the Chair deems appropriate.

#### Individual responsibilities

Members of the Honours Committee are expected to maintain the utmost confidentiality and discretion commensurate with their role. They are also expected to be ambassadors for the work of the Royal College, supporting, explaining and reinforcing the Royal College strategy to promoting those exceptional individuals for national or other honours.

### **RCEM Fundraising Advisory Board**

The RCEM Fundraising Advisory Board of the Royal College of Emergency Medicine (RCEM) shall be a Committee of the RCEM subject to the direction of the Trustees of the RCEM (the Trustees), in accordance with the following rules as amended or replaced from time to time.

#### **Purpose of the Board**

The purpose of the Board shall be to further the objects of the RCEM by promoting and advising on fundraising for the College and the disbursement of grants from the RCEM Fundraising activities.

#### Powers of the Board

The Advisory Board shall report to Council:

Devise for Council's approval a set of criteria which will be used to evaluate whether or not proposals for grants from the RCEM Fundraising activities be approved or not.

Develop for Council's approval and then implement for the RCEM a fundraising strategy.

Work with the Council, Officers, Steering Groups and employees of the College to add value to all aspects of the RCEM Fundraising agenda, including: raising funds and giving grants for and disbursement for a range of charitable initiatives. The Advisory Board will present for Council's consideration a list of appropriate potential topics or initiatives which would be subject to favourable consideration for grant funding and their relative priorities.

The Advisory Board may seek delegated powers to agree appropriate grants within set parameters. However, any grant or disbursement exceeding 10% or £5,000 of the Funds raised, whichever is the lower, will need Council prior approval, until such time as Council delegates wider powers to the Advisory Board.

#### Membership of the Advisory Board

The Advisory Board shall comprise no fewer than 6 and no more than 10 members falling into the following categories:

a Chair of the Advisory Board selected by Council

the President or a nominated deputy

the Treasurer

the Chair or nominate deputy of the Research Committee

the Dean or nominated deputy

representation that reflects the diversity, size and scope of the sector. This would normally include: those representing the interests of the specialty e.g. patients, emergency physicians and academics; those representing the expertise of professional fundraising organisations, consultants and agencies and/or other interested stakeholders as agreed by the Advisory Board.

the secretary of the Advisory Board who shall be an employee of the RCEM

representation from the staff of the RCEM. Normally this will be the Chief Executive(or a nominated deputies), who has the right to attend any meeting as an observer.

co-opted members, appointed because of the expertise or value they can bring to the work of the Advisory Board.

Provided that: members can only act to represent the wider interests of their respective group and not of any particular organisation.

The Chair shall be appointed to serve for three years from the date of appointment. This appointment will be made by the President, Treasurer and CEO or their authorised deputies. The Chair once appointed may appoint a deputy from amongst the members of the Advisory Board.

New members of the Advisory Board shall be appointed for a term of three years. The Advisory Board, with the approval of the Trustees, may renew any appointment.

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

Provided that, if at any time there are no Advisory Board members or membership of the Advisory Board is insufficient to form a quorum, the Trustees of RCEM may appoint members to the Advisory Board at their own discretion.

#### **Determination of membership**

The Advisory Board as a whole will be able to meet all of the criteria below and reflect the diversity, size and scope of the sector. Individual members will be able to demonstrate two or more of the following:

- Up-to-date understanding of current issues in the world of fundraising.
- Practical experience across a range of fundraising techniques and activities.
- Experience in identifying emergency medicine needs.

A member of the Advisory Board shall cease to be a member if he or she:

- reaches the end of the period of his or her appointment.
- notifies to the Advisory Board a wish to resign.
- ceases to be able to represent the interests which he or she was appointed to represent, as determined by the Advisory Board.
- does not attend at least two ordinary Advisory Board meetings in any calendar year, unless the Advisory Board waives the requirement in any particular case.
- is removed as a member by a resolution of the Advisory Board by a 75% majority and with the Trustees' approval, provided that any member to be removed shall have the right to be heard by the Advisory Board, if he or she so chooses, before the vote is taken.

#### Meetings and proceedings of the Advisory Board

The Advisory Board shall hold up to four ordinary meetings each year called by the Chair.

#### **Procedures at Advisory Board Meetings**

The Advisory Board secretary shall keep a full record of proceedings at every meeting of the Advisory Board.

There shall be a quorum when at least 4 Advisory Board members or one third (whichever is greater) are present at an Advisory Board meeting.

Unless otherwise stated in these Rules, all decisions shall be carried by a simple majority of those present and entitled to vote, the Chair, appointed deputy or Trustee having a second or casting vote in the case of equality. Those entitled to vote include all members of the Advisory Board other than observers or note takers.

#### **Reporting to the Trustees**

All acts and proceedings of the Advisory Board shall be fully and promptly reported to the Treasurer.

There shall be an annual report of the activities of the Advisory Board to the Corporate Governance Committee.

All proposals for standards of fundraising practice must be submitted to the Trustees for approval and shall be subject to any directions of the Trustees as to method and timing of implementation.

#### Alterations to the Terms of Reference

The Trustees may alter the Terms of Reference of the Advisory Board, upon recommendations submitted by the Advisory Board itself or otherwise, but so that no alteration shall be made that would be inconsistent with the objects of the RCEM.

#### Interpretation of Terms of Reference

References in these Terms of Reference to the Trustees or to actions required of the Trustees shall mean:

the Trustees of the Royal College of Emergency Medicine; or

any one or more of the Trustees to whom relevant authority has been delegated acting in accordance with their usual procedures for the conduct of the Institute's business.

Any Advisory Board already in existence to which these Rules apply shall be deemed to have been established and constituted in accordance with these Rules, subject to any directions of the Trustees relating to actions to be taken by the Advisory Board to ensure compliance with these Rules.

Any question as to the interpretation of these Rules shall be determined by the Trustees with the benefit of advice from the Corporate Governance Committee.

In selecting, members priority will be given to those who have related expertise to bring to the committee. These co-opted members may include doctors in training and allied health professionals, as well as consultants in Emergency Medicine. Appointed members will serve a term of 3 years, which is renewable for a further 3 years at the discretion of the SIG.

The SIG has the power to co-opt up to 5 members to fill vacancies if necessary.

Where possible the membership should also aim to ensure that there is good regional representation from across the UK.

#### Meetings

Meetings will take place on a quarterly basis. If members are unable to attend, they should be encouraged to join the meeting by teleconferencing

## **Respect ED Working Group**

This Task and Finish Group will operate for 36 months from 1 March 2023. It has the following terms of reference.

#### Remit

To pull together the various issues from around the membership on the interpersonal team relationships of Emergency Medicine teams operating in the UK to set out a clear statement on specialty expectations.

This will build on existing work of the RespectED campaign, the EMTA survey, the work of the EDI Committee, Gender Equity Committee, EMSAS and EMTA as well as other sources such as the work of the Sustainable Working Practices Committee activities.

Whilst we recognise each group of people have different experiences and needs, interventions to tackle poor behaviour such as skills to compassionately challenge (bystander training) and better self-and-peer policing are shared.

It is therefore concerned with incivility, bullying and harassment and undermining:

- within medical staff
- from others
- civility and professional standards of engagement

It will aim to reduce bulging and harassment by:

- · Raise awareness of the issues
- Hold NHS employers to account for the behaviour of their employees
- Provide resources to help our membership develop their skills and competencies to improve how they work together.
- These will be measured against a set of metrics outlined by the working group such as survey data, regular consistent communication outputs, delivered interventions and objective successful influencing with NHSE such as changes in policy and additional funding for this issue.

#### Membership

To include: Service Delivery Cluster Chairs, President and/or President Elect will oversee the Group

The Working Group shall be led by the Lay Group Chair (because that role led the work on the RespectED campaign).

Co-opted Members to represent relevant parties such as:

- Chair of the Lay Committee
- Vice President Membership
- SWPC Chair
- EMTA
- EMSAS
- ACP Forum
- Physicians Associates
- Nurse representative
- Consultant Representative
- EDI Committee
- Gender Equity Committee
- TSC
- Lay Committee

Co-opted advisors to represent relevant parties such as

- RCSed anti-bullying campaign,
- RCOG anti-bullying campaign
- SWP Wellness compendium and anti-bullying blog author
- Civility saves lives
- AoMRC
- Other individuals with relevant expertise

**Meetings:** The group shall meet by telephone or video conference when appropriate.

#### CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

#### **Key purpose**

1. To monitor the integrity of the financial statements, to review The Royal College of Emergency Medicine's (RCEM) governance, internal control and risk management systems and the comprehensiveness, reliability and integrity of the assurances provided and review the internal and external audit services. This Committee reports to the Trustee Board.

#### **Delegated Powers**

- 2. Investigate any activity within its terms of reference. Any investigation will normally be initiated in consultation with the Chief Executive and Vice President Membership.
- 3. Seek any information it may require from any member, employee or office-holder. All members, employees or office-holders are directed to co-operate with the Committee.
- 4. Obtain external legal or other professional advice and to secure the attendance at committee meetings of anyone it considers has relevant experience, expertise or knowledge.
- 5. Review the statements in the annual report and accounts relating to internal control and risk management (the Governance Statement).
- 6. Appoint and remove the internal auditors and approve their fee and terms of engagement and the internal audit strategy and plan.
- 7. Approve the fee and terms of engagement of the external auditor and the external audit strategy and plan.

#### **Membership of the Committee**

- 8. The Committee shall have no fewer than six members of whom at least three will be Trustees of RCEM.
- 9. The Committee shall comprise:
  - a. The Lay Chair of the Committee, who shall normally be selected by application and selection from the Lay Group of RCEM. If a suitable candidate is not found then the role may be advertised externally;
  - b. The Treasurer, Vice President Membership and another Vice President of RCEM (as nominated by the President);
  - c. Two Members or Fellows who are not College role holders;
  - d. A Lay Member from the Lay Group;
  - e. Two other independent lay members, who are not involved in the College Lay Group, as appointed by the Trustees under paragraph 13.
- 10. All Corporate Governance Committee members, save for the three role holders mentioned in paragraph 9b will be non-executive and appointed by the Trustees, on the recommendation of the Chair of the Trustees having considered advice from the Nominations Committee.
- 11. One member shall be suitably financially qualified and have recent and relevant financial experience.
- 12. One member shall have a governance or legal background with relevant governance experience.
- 13. The Trustees may also appoint one or more independent external members selected through open competition as arranged by the College Nominations & Appointments Committee.
- 14. All appointments shall be made with due regard to the need to understand the organisation's objectives, structure and culture, and other legislative and accountability contexts within which it operates. Corporate Governance members will collectively possess knowledge and skills in accounting, risk management, audit, financial governance and technical issues relevant to the operational and strategic management of the organisation.
- 15. The Chair of the Trustees will not be a member of the Committee.

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

- 16. The term of service for Committee members will be for a period of 3 years, extendable for up to a maximum of a further 3 years at the discretion of the Trustees.
- 17. The Corporate Governance Committee shall be entitled to co-opt additional members for a period not exceeding a year to provide specialist skills, knowledge and experience, with approval of the Trustee Board.
- 18. Members should declare conflicts of interest not previously notified.

#### Reporting Line(s)

19. The Corporate Governance Committee will report in writing to the Trustees following each of its meetings in the form of a report from the Chair. The actions taken will be recorded in the Trustee Board's minutes. The Corporate Governance Committee minutes will be circulated to all members of the Committee.

#### Quorum

- 20. A duly convened meeting of the Committee at which a quorum of three members is present shall be competent to exercise all or any of the authorities, powers and discretions vested in or exercisable by the Committee, so long as at least two are Trustees.
- 21. The Chair of the Committee may nominate alternative Committee delegates if one or two of the members cannot attend a meeting.

#### Secretary

22. The Chief Executive will nominate an employee of RCEM to be secretary of the Committee with responsibility for coordinating its business and servicing its meetings.

#### Frequency of meetings

23. The Committee will meet at least 4 times a year at appropriate times in the reporting and audit cycle, co-ordinated in advance of the Trustee meetings so that the Trustees may receive the Committee's report and recommendations from each meeting. A fifth meeting will usually be convened expressly for the purpose of considering the annual accounts.

#### **Attendance at Corporate Governance Committee meetings**

- 24. Meetings will normally be attended by the:
  - a. President;
  - b. Chief Executive (and other Directors as the CEO determines);
  - d. Director of Corporate Services;
  - e. HR Manager; and
  - f. Any other employee at the request of the CEO.
- 25. Members of the Committee may ask any other officials of the organisation to attend to assist it with its discussions on any particular matter.
- 26. All meetings will be chaired by the Chair of the Committee. In the absence of the Chair the remaining members present shall elect one of their number to chair the meeting.
- 27. The Committee may ask any or all of those who normally attend but who are not members to withdraw from the discussion of particular matters to facilitate open and frank discussion.
- 28. The Corporate Governance Committee will meet at least annually with each of the chief audit executive without management present to discuss their respective remits and any issues arising from their audits.

#### **Functions and Duties**

### **Financial reporting**

29. Review the Annual Report and Financial Statements before submission to the Trustees for approval, focusing particularly on the wording in the Governance Statement and other disclosures relevant to the Terms of Reference of the Committee including:

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

- a. changes in, and compliance with, accounting policies and practices;
- b. unadjusted mis-statements in the financial statements;
- c. major judgemental areas;
- d. significant adjustments resulting from the audit;
- e. external audit's management letter; and
- f. management's letter of representation to the external auditors.
- 30. Ensure that the systems for financial reporting to the Trustees, including those of budgetary control, are subject to review as to completeness and accuracy of the information provided to the Trustees.

#### Governance, Risk Management and Internal Control

- 31. Review the delegated authorities and governance structure annually, report to the Trustees on whether they are adequate and make any recommendations to the Trustees.
- 32. Monitor the integrity of the system of internal controls. In particular, to review management's and the internal auditors' reports on the effectiveness of the system of internal control, including Health and Safety and compliance with employment and Charity law.
- 33. Assess the scope and effectiveness of the systems established by management to identify, assess, manage and monitor significant risks.
- 34. Review the comprehensiveness, reliability and integrity of the assurances provided in relation to governance, internal control and risk management.
- 35. At the request of the Trustees, advise it on matters of corporate governance (but without prejudice to the Committee's power to make recommendations to the Trustees on corporate governance issues arising from the work of the auditors).
- 36. Provide assurance to the Trustees on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management processes. This involves reviewing the Risk Register, obtaining assurance on risk management arrangements from internal auditors, and reviewing the status and trends of all risk in the strategic risk register.

#### **Internal Audit**

- 37. Review the internal audit programme and ensure that the function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the organisation [see above delegated authority].
- 38. Consider and monitor management's responses to any major internal audit recommendations.
- 39. Meet with the internal auditors at least once a year, without management being present, to discuss their remit and any issues arising from the internal audits carried out.
- 40. The internal auditors should be given the right of direct access to the Chair of the Trustees and the Committee.
- 41. Monitor and review the effectiveness and quality of the internal audit function to ensure it provides appropriate independent assurance to the Trustees and value for money.

#### **Human Resources**

42. Recognising that the management of the employees of the College is a matter for the CEO, the Committee shall periodically review the approach to Human Resources policy. Specifically the Committee may approve remuneration policy including all aspects of the employee remuneration package subject to budget. To facilitate this the Committee may constitute a Remuneration Subcommittee whose powers and approach will be as set out in a Terms of Reference.

#### **External Audit**

- 43. Consider and make recommendations to the Trustees on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditors [see above delegated authority].
- 44. Review the findings of the audit with the external auditor considering any material issues which arose during the audit, any accounting and audit judgements and levels of errors identified during the audit.

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

- 45. Meet with the external auditors at least once year, without the management being present, to discuss their remit and any issues arising from the audit.
- 46. Monitor and review the effectiveness and quality of the audit, assessing annually their independence and the relationship with the auditor as a whole, including the provision of any non-audit services, and value for money.
- 47. The Chair shall decide whether the Secretariat members should withdraw also; if so, the Chair should ensure that an adequate note of proceedings is kept to support the Committee's conclusion, rationale and actions. In order for completeness of records the note should be deposited with the Secretariat.

### Whistle-blowing, fraud and investigations:

- 48. Review the RCEM's arrangements for employees, Trustees Members and associates to raise concerns about possible wrongdoing in financial reporting or other matters and ensure that they allow proportionate and independent investigation.
- 49. Review the RCEM's arrangements for external parties to raise concerns about another individual or organisation with the RCEM in its role as a Prescribed Person and ensure that they are appropriately dealt with.
- 50. Review the anti-fraud and bribery policies and arrangements for special investigations.

#### Review of effectiveness

51. Periodically review its own effectiveness and report the results of that review to the Trustees.

### **ACADEMIC CLUSTER**

### **Academic Committee**

#### Reports to

The Academic Committee reports to Council.

#### Aim

The Academic Committee is strategic in outlook, providing a forum to facilitate and encourage the development of academic strategy and discuss and promote academic developments, whether internally driven or externally.

### Objectives

The Academic Committee has responsibility and accountability for Academic Cluster to the College Council. Its key objectives are:

- Reviewing and updating the Academic Strategy
- Setting priorities for deliverables within Academic Strategy for its lifecycle
- Reviewing and responding appropriately to external initiatives and developments
- Overall responsibility for delivery of the strategy through the other committees / groups
- Developing and supporting College Membership
- Approval and endorsement of Academic policies
- Advise the College Council on Academic matters
- Ensure the College meets the General Medical Council Standards for Postgraduate Medical Curricula, Excellence by Design
- Responsibility for coordinating the activities of individual elements of the academic cluster

### Membership

Permanent membership of the Committee comprises:

- Dean (Chair)
- Vice President(s)
- Director of Education
- Chair of Training Standard Committee
- Chief-Examiner
- Chair of the Careers Committee
- Chair of Research Committee
- Chair of Educational Resources Committee
- Chair of Global Emergency Medicine Committee
- EMTA Representative
- EMSAS Representative

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

- ACP Representative
- Lay Group Representative

#### In attendance:

- Head of Examinations
- Head of Quality and Standards
- Head of Psychometrics
- Head of Training
- eLearning Manager
- Head of International
- Events Manager
- Associate Director of Quality and Research
- Exams Policy and Appeals Officer (Committee Secretary)

#### Occasional members:

- Chairs of various working groups
- Experts seconded by either the Dean or Council

### Responsibilities

#### Strategy

 To set and maintain an academic strategy that sets out a vision for RCEM as a place for authoritative thinking, world leading expert in Emergency Medicine discipline across, curriculum, research, examinations, careers and educational resources.

### **Training Standards**

- To maintain and update the Royal College Curriculum to GMC Excellence by Design Standards and new clinical guidance
- To integrate curriculum development with Royal College examinations and educational resources
- To integrate the Curriculum into EM training
- To maintain and develop the ePortfolio to ensure it reflects and supports the Curriculum and developments in EM training and assessment
- To establish and track data from eportfolio and membership databases to inform workforce planning and intelligence.

### **Examinations**

- To arrange and provide oversight of all examinations
- To recruit and train examiners and maintain high standards of examiner conduct
- To provide quality assurance of the content and standards of the exams
- To provide feedback to candidates and reports to Council

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

- To maintain up to date Royal College examination regulations
- To working with the TSC in linking EM training and assessment
- To establish and maintain the procedures that govern the College's examinations.
- To integrate curriculum development with Royal College examinations and supporting educational resources
- To liaise with other international partners to develop and quality assure Emergency Medicine examination development with a robust and sustainable strategy and oversight.

#### **CPD**

- To identify training and educational needs for Fellows and Members
- To develop educational strategies and guidance to meet these needs including working with the Research Committee and contributing to the National Conferences
- To support appraisal for Fellows
- To support recertification for Fellows

#### **Education Research**

 To develop an evidence-based foundation for the Royal College's curriculum, training, examinations and educational resources

#### **Educations Resources**

- To develop educational resources to support the education and training needs of the College Membership and Fellowship
- To integrate curriculum development with Royal College examinations and supporting educational resources to ensure content is relevant and up to date
- To develop and provide technology enhanced educational resources inline with wider sector developments

#### International

 To liaise with other countries regarding Emergency Medicine examinations and curriculum development and create a robust international strategy for global curriculum development

#### Careers

 To coordinate all activities aimed at developing, promoting and monitoring careers information for students and doctors in training grades, and those working in Emergency Medicine, on behalf of the College.

### Meetings

Meetings are held up to four times a year and where possible they should be arranged to coincide with other RCEM committee meetings.

The quorum for this Committee shall be three members, plus the Dean.

#### **Careers Committee**

The Careers Committee reports to the Academic Committee.

#### Aim

To coordinate all activities aimed at developing, promoting and monitoring careers information for students and doctors in training grades, and those working in Emergency Medicine, on behalf of the College.

### Responsibilities

- Develop material for use in national and local careers fairs
- Maintain the careers section of the College website
- Collaborate with BMJ careers, NHS HEE and other national bodies over publicising the careers
- Collaborate with foundation schools in providing material
- Collaborate with Universities in promoting EM as a career to undergraduates
- To hold careers days in conjunction with the training standards committee and other organisations such as the RSM
- To monitor attrition and provide information on exit reasons, in conjunction with TSC
- To develop a network of local careers advisors in each LETB/Deanery
- To work with college conference organisers to develop careers workshops
- Liaise with PSC over sustainability and the workforce strategies
- Conduct any other careers activities at the request of the College Education Committee

#### Membership

Membership of the Committee comprises:

- Chair(s) of the Careers Committee
- UK Fellows x 8 (maximum)
- EMTA Representative x 2
- ACP Representative Forum x 2
- EMSAS Representative x 2
- Dean
- Director of Education
- WEMSIG Representative
- EDI Representative
- Head of Training

### Meetings

The committee meets four times a year. All members should endeavour to attend but deputies can be sent with the agreement of the Chairperson.

The quorum for this Committee shall be three members, plus the Chair of the Careers Committee.

#### **Research Committee**

The Research Committee reports to the Academic Committee.

#### Aim

To promote the development of academic emergency medicine through research.

### Responsibilities

- To develop an evidence-based foundation for the Royal College's curriculum, training, examinations and educational resources
- Actively participate in and directing the development of Academic Emergency Medicine
- Engage with UK academic structures on behalf of the Royal College (e.g. Academy of Medical Royal Colleges Academic Leads)
- Administrator the Royal College Research Fellowships and Grants
- Organise the Royal College Scientific Meetings and for advise the Royal College Council
- Update the College Council, Academic Committee and committees within the Academic Cluster on matters related to Academic Emergency Medicine research
- Liaise the QEC on matters of mutual interest
- Manage the process and systems for the approval, presentation, standardisation and publication of RCEM publications, which are to be approved by Council
- Provide guidance to careers committee to promote, support and develop a sustainable academic Emergency Medicine workforce

### Membership

Membership of the Committee comprises:

- Chair of the Research Committee
- Vice-Chair of the Research Committee
- President
- College Officers
- RCEM Members x 7
- EMJ Editor
- RCEM Professors x 2
- RCEM Associate Professors x 4
- Lead of Academic Department of Military Emergency Medicine (ADMEM)
- RCEM PhD Fellows and academic training representatives at different stages x 3
- EMTA Representative
- WEMSIG Representative
- Nursing Representative
- Trainee Emergency Research Network (TERN) Fellow

• Lay Member

### In attendance:

- Dean
- Director of Education
- Research Policy Manager
- Immediate past appointed holders

## Meetings

The committee meets four times a year. All members should endeavour to attend but deputies can be sent with the agreement of the Chairperson.

The quorum for this Committee shall be three members, plus the Chair of the Research Committee.

## Membership Appointment Requirements

Position	Appointment Requirements	Term of Office
Chair	Elected from the membership of the Research Committee subject to ratification by the Royal College Council. The process of election will be for the out-going Chair to determine but will include inviting written applications and CVs in support and may include the appointment of a selection panel from within the Committee to make a short-list of candidates from which the Chair is elected by the Committee. In his/her absence a nominated member (e.g. one of the Royal College Professors) shall be Chair.	3 year term of office, with the possibility of an extension is agreed by Council. No more than two terms of office
Vice-Chair	Elected from the membership of the Research Committee subject to ratification by the Royal College Council.	3 year term of office, with the possibility of an extension is agreed by Council. No more than two terms of office
President	As per the Bye Laws	As per Council ToR
Vice-President(s)	As per the Bye Laws	As per Council ToR

College Members	Ordinary membership is advertised in open competition and applications are assessed by the senior members of the committee. Nominations will then be passed to the Royal College Council for approval.	Normal term of 3 years but extension possible if agreed by council
EMJ Editor	Current EMJ Editor	For duration of tenure as Editor
RCEM Professors	Invitations for application are every 2-4 years. Two RCEM Professors at any one time on a rolling 2 year appointment basis. Shortlisting and appointment through Research Committee with Council approval.	4 year term.
RCEM Associate Professors	RCEM Associate Professors are appointed following application and serve a term of 4 years. If not already members of the committee they will be invited to sit on the committee as additional members during their term.	4 year term.
Lead of Academic Department of Military Emergency Medicine (ADMEM)	Current Defence Professor of Emergency Medicine (or head of ADMEM)	For duration of tenure
RCEM PhD Fellows and academic training representatives at different stages	Appointed for the duration of their doctoral studies or academic clinical fellowship / lecturer appointment. This may include RCEM PhD fellows plus additional academic trainee representatives	3 years (normally)
EMTA Representative	Nominated by EMTA	2 years
WEMSIG Representative	Nominated by WEMSIG	For duration of tenure on WEMSIG
Nursing Representative	Application by submission of interest, then appointed by the committee	3 years
Trainee Emergency Research Network (TERN) Fellow	Appointed by competitive application and interview. Invited to give TERN update at alternate meetings	2 years
Lay Member	To be selected/nominated from the Lay Advisory Group and approved by the Royal College	Co-terminus with Lay Group appointment
Dean	As per the Bye Laws	As per Council ToR
Director of Education	Current post holder	On-going

Research Policy Manager	Current post holder	On-going
appointment holders	Immediate past Chair and RCEM Professors will be invited to continue their contribution to the committee.	3 years

#### **Exams Committee**

The Exams Committee reports to the Academic Committee.

#### Aim

The Exams Committee has responsibility for the Royal College exam provision across speciality training.

#### Responsibilities

- To arrange and provide oversight of all examinations
- To recruit and train examiners and maintain high standards of examiner conduct
- To provide quality assurance of the content and standards of the exams
- To provide feedback to candidates and reports to Council
- To manage the Royal College Examination Regulations
- To working with the TSC in linking EM training and assessment
- To establish and maintain the procedures that govern the College's examinations.
- To integrate curriculum development with Royal College examinations and supporting educational resources
- To liaise with other international partners to develop and quality assure Emergency Medicine examination development with a robust and sustainable strategy and oversight.

## Membership

Membership of the Committee comprises:

- Chair of the Exams Committee (Chief Examiner)
- Lead Examiner MRCEM Primary
- Lead Examiner MRCEM Intermediate SBA
- Lead Examiner MRCEM OSCE
- Lead Examiner FRCEM Final SBA
- Lead Examiner FRCEM OSCE
- Lead for Examiner Development
- Deputy Lead Examiner MRCEM Primary
- Deputy Lead Examiner MRCEM Intermediate SBA
- Deputy Lead Examiner MRCEM OSCE
- Deputy Lead Examiner Final SBA
- Deputy Lead Examiner FRCEM OSCE
- Deputy Lead for Examiner Development
- EMTA Representative(s)

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

- EMSAS Representative(s)
- Lay Representation
- Dean
- Director of Education
- Head of Exams
- Head of Quality and Standards
- Head of Psychometrics

#### In attendance:

- Exams Operations Manager (Systems and Processes)
- Candidate Team Manager
- OSCE Delivery Manager
- Exam Policy and Appeals Officer
- Head of Training

### Meetings

The committee meets four times a year. All members should endeavour to attend but deputies can be sent with the agreement of the Chairperson.

The quorum for this Committee shall be three members, plus the Chair of the Exam Committee.

#### **Educational Resource Committee**

The Educational Resources Committee reports to the Academic Committee.

#### Aim

To aim of the Educational Resources Committee is to oversee the provision of the College's educational resources for all members and fellows.

### Responsibilities

- To develop educational resources to support the education and training needs of the College Membership and Fellowship; including the College Conferences and study days
- To integrate curriculum development with Royal College examinations and supporting educational resources to ensure content is relevant and up to date
- To develop and provide technology enhanced educational resources inline with wider sector developments

### Membership

Membership of the Committee comprises:

- Chair of the Educational Resources Committee
- President
- Vice-President
- Treasurer
- Dean
- Appointed Members and Fellows x 10
- Director of Education
- Events Manager
- EMTA Representative
- EMSAS Representative
- EDI Committee Representative
- WEMSIG Representative
- eLearning Manager

### Meetings

The committee meets four times a year. All members should endeavour to attend but deputies can be sent with the agreement of the Chairperson.

The quorum for this Committee shall be three members, plus the Chair of the Educational Resources Committee.

### **eLearning Committee**

The eLearning Committee reports to the Educational Resources Committee.

#### Aim

To aim of the eLearning Committee is to develop content and supporting technical functionalities to support College educational objectives in line with curriculum and members requirements and expectations.

### Responsibilities

- To develop eLearning resources to support the education and training needs of the College Membership and Fellowship
- Ensure the eLearning solutions are aligned with its curriculum and member/user expectations and requirements
- To integrate curriculum development with relevant committees to ensure content is relevant and up to date
- To develop and provide technology enhanced educational resources in line with wider sector developments

### Membership

Membership of the Committee comprises:

- Chair of eLearning Committee
- Creative Lead
- Chair of the Educational Resources Committee
- Dean
- Director of Education
- eLearning Manager
- Content Editors (Blogs, Clinical Cases, Learning Sessions, Podcasts, Research, SBA, ERB)
- EMTA Representative
- EMSAS Representative
- ACP Representative

### Meetings

The committee meets four times a year. All members should endeavour to attend but deputies can be sent with the agreement of the Chairperson.

The quorum for this Committee shall be three members, plus the Chair of the eLearning Committee.

#### **Ultrasound Committee**

The Ultrasound Committee reports to the Educational Resources Committee.

#### Aim

To aim of the Ultrasound Committee is to develop resources to support the delivery of ultrasound competences within the EM curriculum including preferred methods of assessment.

#### Responsibilities

- Develop point of care ultrasound skills (PoCUS) competences within the curriculum.
- Ensure PoCUS is clearly identified within the curriculum as a training/assessment tool at any point of revision of the curriculum
- Advise the Training Standards Committee in the quality assurance of high quality training for Emergency Physicians
- Work with other groups within the College to update existing and develop a range of resources over and above in PoCUS training, to support the delivery of the curriculum including skills maintenance for trainers
- To inform Educational Resources Committee of updates in relation to ultrasound
- Advise exam and ePortfolio Team of developments in ultrasound assessments
- Consult on ultrasound inclusion in any proposed programme of learning
- Address regional variation in the assessment of competences of ultrasound and maintain oversight

## Membership

Membership of the Committee comprises:

- Chair of the Ultrasound Committee
- PEM Lead
- Chair of the Educational Resources Committee
- eLearning Manager
- RCEM Course Leads
- Head of School Representation
- EMTA Representative
- EMSAS Representative
- ACP Representative
- Lay Advisor Representative
- Two Ordinary Fellows

#### **Invited Members:**

- Dean
- Director of Education

- Chair of TSC
- Chair of Curriculum Sub-Committeee

## Meetings

The committee meets four times a year. All members should endeavour to attend but deputies can be sent with the agreement of the Chairperson.

The quorum for this Committee shall be three members, plus the Chair of the Ultrasound Committee.

## **Training Standards Committee**

The Training Standard Committee reports to the Academic Committee.

#### Aim

The Training Standards Committee has responsibility for translating the Royal College's aims for specialty training in EM into working systems throughout the UK across the EM workforce.

#### Responsibilities

#### **Training**

- Develop the content and structure of the EM training programme
- To integrate the Curriculum(s) into EM training
- Oversee the enrolment of EM trainees
- Recommend trainees to the GMC for specialist registration
- Monitor the progress of trainees' CCT recommendations
- Provide feedback on the function of the ePortfolio to support training activities
- To establish and track data from ePortfolio and membership databases to inform workforce planning and intelligence.

#### Quality

- Work with Post-Graduate Deaneries and the GMC, and offer advice, to set the standards for the approval of departments for EM training
- Agree processes by which external assessors can be provided to participate in ARCP panels and Deanery quality visits
- Compile and submitting the annual specialty report on training to the GMC

#### Medical Training Initiative

 Agree the standards for GMC registration via the sponsorship route and administering sponsorship applications.

Oversee the work of the following Committees in relation to the responsibilities listed below:

#### Curriculum Sub-Committee

- Support the work of the Curriculum Sub-Committee to update and develop the curriculum
- Ensure that impact and guidance to trainee's and training supervisors is considered

#### Recruitment Committee

- Work with HEE and the devolved equivalents to compile the person specifications for entry to EM specialty training
- Work with HEE and the devolved equivalents, other Royal Colleges and Deaneries to manage recruitment, including national recruitment to specialty training for the College

#### **CESR Committee**

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

- Ensure that the evaluation of applications for specialist registration in EM by the Certificate of Eligibility for Specialist Registration route meets the required standards
- Monitor the posts and pathways recognised for entry to training for CESR
- Provide support for the introduction of new standards determined by the GMC

#### Advance Clinical Practitioners Credentialing Committee

- Ensure that the credentialing of Emergency Care Advance Clinical Practitioners meets the required standards
- Monitor the evaluation of potential developments for Emergency Care Advance Clinical Practitioners
- Provide support for the introduction of equivalency with HEE work for the RCEM credentialing process

### Membership

#### Membership of the Committee comprises:

- Chair of Training Standards Committee
- TSC Vice-Chair, CESR Committee Chair
- TSC Vice-Chair, ACP Credentialling Committee
- TSC Vice-Chair, Curriculum Sub-Committee Chair
- TSC Vice-Chair, Chair of Recruitment Committee
- Vice-President (Education)
- TSC Quality Lead
- HST Lead
- ACCS Lead
- DRE-EM Lead
- MTI Lead
- Regional Heads of School/Heads of Training; including Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland
- RCPCH Representative
- Paediatric Emergency Medicine Lead
- Pre-Hospital Emergency Medicine Representative
- EMTA Representative(s)
- EMSAS Representative(s)
- Lead Postgraduate Dean
- President of the Royal College
- Dean

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

- Director of Education
- Lay Representation
- · Head of Training

#### In attendance:

- Head of Examinations
- ePortfolio Manager
- eLearning Manager
- · Head of International
- EDI Committee Representative (as required)

## Meetings

The committee meets four times a year. All members should endeavour to attend but deputies can be sent with the agreement of the Chairperson.

The quorum for this Committee shall be three members, plus the Chair of Training Standards Committee.

#### **Curriculum Sub-Committee**

TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

The Curriculum Sub-Committee reports to the Training Standards Committee.

#### Aim

The Curriculum Sub-Committee has responsibility to review and maintain the Curriculum for training in Emergency Medicine and, as a result, has delegated powers from Council to decide on the content and nature of the Curriculum.

#### Responsibilities

- Maintain and update the Royal College Curriculum to GMC Excellence by Design Standards and new clinical guidance
- Liaise with other Royal Colleges, Faculties and Intercollegiate groups including the Intercollegiate Committee for ACCS training
- Consult on proposed curriculum changes
- Prepare Curriculum changes for submission to GMC via annual CAG process
- Respond to external requests for curriculum changes
- Integrate curriculum development with Royal College examinations and educational resources
- Implement change and undertake evaluation of that change via ePortfolio
- Provide information as required for the annual specialty report to the GMC
- Develop a WPBA strategy to support the implementation of the curriculum via ePortfolio
- Lead on the review of the curriculum in line with GMC guidelines and requirements
- Provide support to other committees on curricula issues

#### Membership

Membership of the Committee comprises:

- Chair of Curriculum Sub-Committee
- ACCS Trainer Representative
- HST Trainer Representative
- Paediatric EM Trainer Representative
- Pre-Hospital EM Trainer Representative
- Curriculum Development Lead (appointed via TSC)
- Four ordinary fellows
- EMTA HST representative (nominated/elected by EMTA)
- EMTA ACCS Trainee Representative (as appointed to Intercollegiate Committee for ACCS Training)
- Lay Representative
- Head of Training

#### **Optional Attendees**

- Dean (ex officio)
- Director of Education

#### In attendance:

- Head of Quality and Standards
- ePortfolio Manager
- eLearning Manager

### Meetings

The committee meets four times a year. All members should endeavour to attend but deputies can be sent with the agreement of the Chairperson.

The quorum for this Committee shall be three members, plus the Chair of Curriculum Sub-Committee.

## **Advanced Clinical Practitioners Credentialling Committee**

The Advanced Clinical Practitioners Credentialing Committee reports to the Training Standards Committee.

#### Aim

The aim of the Advanced Clinical Practitioner Credentialling Committee is to develop, plan, evaluate and quality assure the credentialing of Emergency Care Advanced Clinical Practitioners.

#### Responsibilities

- To review and maintain the Curriculum for Emergency Care Advanced Clinical Practitioners
- To review, maintain, develop and quality assure the ECACP Assessment Structure and Credentialing Process
- To develop and maintain ECACP protocols, guidelines and other documentation as necessary
- To ensure that the ePortfolio and IT mechanisms that support the ECACP processes are fit for purpose and offer an excellent user experience for both ECACPs and accessors
- To integrate curriculum developments with existing ECACP processes and guidance
- To provide regular reports on the health of ECACP progress to relevant College committees
- To develop and maintain ECACP guidelines and supporting communication
- To respond to external requests for curriculum changes or advice

### Membership

Membership of the Committee comprises:

- Chair
- ACP Curriculum Lead
- College of Paramedics representative
- Royal College of Nursing representative
- Chair of the RCEM Training Standards Committee
- Consultant Nurse Representative
- Trainee ACP Representative
- Credentialed ACP Representative
- Two RCEM Ordinary Fellows
- CSC Representative
- ACP and PA Training Officer

### **Optional Attendees**

- Dean (ex officio)
- Director of Education
- Vice-President Education
- Head of Training

#### In attendance:

- ePortfolio Manager
- eLearning Manager

### Meetings

The committee meets three times a year. All members should endeavour to attend but deputies can be sent with the agreement of the Chairperson.

The quorum for this Committee shall be three members, plus the Chair of the Clinical Advance Practice Credentialling Committee.

#### **CESR Committee**

The CESR Committee reports to the Training Standards Committee.

#### Aim

The CESR Committee has responsibility to develop, plan, evaluate and quality assure the Certificate of Eligibility for Specialist Registration standards for the College.

### Responsibilities

- To develop and maintain CESR processes and protocols across all standards and pathways
- To liaise with other Royal Colleges, Faculties and Intercollegiate groups as appropriate in relation to CESR activity
- To ensure that the ePortfolio and IT mechanisms that support the CESR processes are fit for purpose and offer an excellent user experience for both candidates and accessors
- To integrate curriculum developments with existing CESR processes and guidance
- To provide regular reports on the health of CESR progress to relevant College committees
- To develop and maintain CESR guidelines and supporting communication
- To respond to external request to standard changes

### Membership

Membership of the Committee comprises:

- Chair of CESR Committee
- CSC Representative
- EMSAS Representative x 2
- RCEM CESR CCT members x 2
- Senior CESR Officer

### **Optional Attendees**

- Dean (ex officio)
- Director of Education
- Vice-President Education

#### In attendance:

- ePortfolio Manager
- eLearning Manager

#### Meetings

The committee meets four times a year. All members should endeavour to attend but deputies can be sent with the agreement of the Chairperson.

The quorum for this Committee shall be three members, plus the Chair of the CESR Committee.

#### **Recruitment Committee**

The Recruitment Committee reports to the Training Standards Committee.

#### Aim

The Recruitment Committee has responsibility to oversee the recruitment activities with key stakeholders.

### Responsibilities

- Work with HEE and the devolved equivalents to compile the person specifications for entry to EM specialty training
- Work with HEE and the devolved equivalents, other Royal Colleges and Deaneries to manage recruitment, including national recruitment to specialty training for the College
- Work with members of examinations committee for production of questions eg. MSRA when necessary
- Work with HEE to Manage (including monitoring) the review, planning & advertising of the recruitment cycle via HEE & RCEM channels.
- Analyse annual recruitment data, trainee progression and performance to enable trends and data based decisions to be made.
- Ensure RCEM website information on recruitment remains accessible, up to date and accurate
- Liaise with Medical and Dental Recruitment and Selection (MDRS), Health Education England (HEE) national recruitment teams, educational psychologists, other Royal Colleges, Faculties, and Intercollegiate groups
- Influence recruitment numbers/sustainability/expansion of speciality where possible, in conjunction with TSC

## Membership

Membership of the Committee comprises:

- Chair of Recruitment Committee
- ACCS Recruitment Lead
- DRE-EM Recruitment Lead
- TSC Chair
- Dean (ex officio)
- Director of Education
- Head of Training
- VP Education
- EMTA Representative
- EMSAS Representative
- Gender Equity Group Representative

#### In attendance:

• Training Officer

## Meetings

The committee meets four times a year. All members should endeavour to attend but deputies can be sent with the agreement of the Chairperson.

The quorum for this Committee shall be three members, plus the Chair of the Recruitment Committee.

## **Global Emergency Medicine Committee**

The Global Emergency Medicine Committee reports to the Academic Committee.

#### Aim

To aim of the Global Emergency Committee is to establish RCEM as a world-leader in the development of global EM that is clinically excellent, evidence-based, compassionate and equitable.

#### Responsibilities

- To develop a framework for governance of global EM work undertaken on behalf of the College
- Create a robust international strategy for global curriculum development
- Provide advice and recommendations for members to work internationally through the College website and newsletters, EMJ, social media and global EM days at the college
- Liaise with equivalent global health committees of other Royal Colleges and relevant bodies; including international EM societies
- Influence the quality of care in Emergency medicine internationally by electronic sharing and promotion of good practice, standards and quality improvement projects including supporting the development of resources for EM systems globally
- Provide a network for members and fellows involved in global EM
- Promote global EM activities to RCEM members and fellows
- To liaise with other countries regarding Emergency Medicine examinations and curriculum development

#### Membership

Membership of the Committee comprises:

- Chair of the Global Emergency Medicine Committee
- Vice-President International
- Director of Education
- Dean
- Head of International
- EMFP/EM core Lead
- MTI Lead
- Lay Representative
- Research representative
- Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Committee representative
- WEMSIG representative
- EMTA representative

- Phasing of 8 representatives with experience in global health work in LMIC resource settings to 4-6 with focus on regions Asia, MENA, East Africa, West Africa
- Curriculum representative

#### In attendance:

• Senior International Officer

## Meetings

The committee meets four times a year. All members should endeavour to attend but deputies can be sent with the agreement of the Chairperson.

The quorum for this Committee shall be three members, plus the Chair of the Global Emergency Medicine Committee.

## **MEMBERSHIP & PROFESSIONAL MATTERS CLUSTER**

## **Consultants Committee**

Placeholder – TOR under development

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

## **Emergency Medicine Advanced Clinical Practitioners' Forum (ACP Forum)**

The Emergency Medicine Advanced Clinical Practitioners Forum reports to Council and shall have the following terms of reference:

#### Remit

- To provide a focus and representation for ACPs and trainee ACPs (tACPs) within the College
- To encourage active involvement of all ACP associate members to shape the development of Emergency Medicine as a specialty and improve their own training experience
- To provide a structure for ACP associate members to highlight issues specific to ACPs and represent their views on Council and RCEM Committees.
- Support the planning and delivery of the ACP conference

#### Membership

Membership of the ACP Forum shall be limited to those working in Emergency Medicine who are Associate Members (ACP) of the Royal College of Emergency Medicine in good standing.

The composition of the ACP Forum shall ensure regional representation across the British Isles and consist of:

Chair, who is elected following a ballot of all Associate Members (ACPs) in good standing. The process is that nominees must be proposed by one other Associate Member (ACP) in good standing. If uncontested, nomination is put before the ACP Forum for approval. If contested, then there is an election, the electorate being Associate Members (ACP) of the Royal College of Emergency Medicine in good standing.

Representatives for Scotland, Wales, Northern Ireland, and will have representatives for each of the College defined regions in England each of whom are elected following a ballot of Associate Members (ACPs) in good standing within the relevant region

Chair of ACP Sub-Committee Ex-officio

President Ex-officio

Vice President Membership Ex-officio

Dean Ex-officio

Director of Education Ex-officio

Administrator Ex-officio

Vacancies for regional representatives or the Chair will be advertised by the College at least two months before the end of the office. Applicants for all roles will be required to submit a personal statement outlining their suitability for the role supported by a proposer and seconder. Regional representatives shall be elected following a ballot of Associate Members (ACPs) in good standing within the relevant region. The Chair shall be elected following a ballot of all Associate Members (ACPs) in good standing.

#### Responsibilities

- Ensure the views of Associate Members (ACPs) are communicated to the Royal College of Emergency Medicine and to disseminate information about changes to training or provision from those committees
- Ensure good communication is maintained with Associate Members (ACP)
- Share good practice and ideas for improvement to training and safeguard the educational needs of tACPs as far as possible
- Ensure regional representation updating the ACP Forum and relevant committees on local views and opinions
- Represent ACP and tACP views by membership of the relevant committees of the Royal College of Emergency Medicine and to ensure two-way communication between ACP Forum members and the Royal College

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

- Provide advice and nominate representative to the Royal College and its committees on invitation
- Circulate a summary of points raised after each Royal College committee meeting drawn up by the relevant representatives for review at the next ACP Forum meeting
- Provide notes of the meetings of the ACP Forum meeting
- Provide regular updates on current issues via the EMJ supplement
- Communicate with the regional representatives before parent committee meetings to ensure regional views and concerns are voiced and each regional representative has a duty to reply
- Disseminate information about changes to ACP Credentialing to Associate Members (ACP)
- Encourage social discourse and shared learning by the organisation of an annual conference open to all ACPs

Meetings: up to four times a year

## **Emergency Medicine Physicians Associates' Forum (PA Forum)**

The PA SLWG reports to the Education Committee. The PA SLWG has the following terms of reference:

#### Remit

- •To develop, monitor and advise on the role of Physicians Associates in Emergency Departments ensuring engagement with relevant stakeholders
- •To consider the educational needs of Physician Associates through professional development, ensuring sustainable careers
- •To consider workforce requirements and future needs

#### Membership

- Chair
- Dean
- Vice President
- Director of Education
- Ordinary Fellows (maximum of four)
- •Physicians Associates Associate Members (maximum of three)
- Lay member
- •The Chair may co-opt from time to time representatives from other groups.

The Chair will be appointed against a published role profile, by competitive application by the Dean, Director of Education and a College Office Holder (or nominated deputies) and be ratified by Council.

#### Meetings

Meetings are held at least three times a year. Where possible they should be arranged to coincide with other committee meetings, such as those of other major committees, and if members are unable to attend they should be encouraged to join the meeting by teleconferencing. The Chair of the meeting shall make appropriate arrangements for keeping records of the meetings. The quorum shall be 3 Members at least one of which should be a Fellow of the College.

## **Emergency Medicine Trainees' Association (EMTA)**

#### Introduction

The UK Emergency Medicine Trainees' Association (EMTA) exists to represent Emergency Medicine Trainees to the Royal College of Emergency Medicine (RCEM) and associated bodies responsible for the delivery of training and provision of healthcare. All trainee members of the Royal College of Emergency Medicine are automatically members of the Emergency Medicine Trainees' Association.

The Association comprises the EMTA Committee and, within that, an EMTA Executive, appointed by the Committee. EMTA work with and report directly to the Royal College of Emergency Medicine.

#### **Objectives**

By recruitment onto its Committee EMTA will provide trainee representatives to the various RCEM Committees, sub-Committees, Specialist Interest Groups, Professional Advisory Groups and other fora by agreement between EMTA and RCEM. EMTA also provides representation to other national agencies concerned with the delivery of training and Emergency Medicine

EMTA provides a focus point for trainees in Emergency Medicine. This will include its social media platforms, the delivery of the national trainee conference and ongoing communications with trainees and trainee groups in a variety of written, verbal and audio-visual content that facilitate inclusive and topical discussion and advocacy for our members. In this way, supported by RCEM, the Committee serves to achieve its fundamental objective of *providing a collective and representative voice for Emergency Medicine trainees*; helping to lead and shape the actions required to benefit the delivery of, and training in, Emergency Medicine.

#### **Structure**

#### **EMTA Committee**

The EMTA Committee is the core functioning component of EMTA, serving its primary objectives of providing trainee representation to the Royal College of Emergency Medicine and associated bodies responsible for the delivery of training and provision of healthcare.

The majority of individuals within the EMTA Committee will be concerned with providing direct representation to the RCEM Committees, Subcommittees, Special Interest Groups, Professional Advisory Groups and other such groups. It is an expectation that all composite groups of RCEM ensure trainee representation is present via EMTA.

The EMTA Committee may meet up to four times a year.

In addition to the representatives provided to the College and associated bodies as described above it is also understood that the EMTA Committee will comprise a number of additional roles from other organisations where it is of interest to EM Trainees to coordinate and share trainee representation, such as those concerned with training in paediatric emergency medicine, medical leadership and other such societies and bodies.

The EMTA Committee will form smaller working teams aimed to achieve the objectives of the Association, such as the Conference, Survey and communications.

A list of the current members of the EMTA Committee, the Committees they represent on, roles they undertake and associated vacancies will be kept and maintained is the responsibility held by the EMTA Secretary.

For every role on Committee it is the intention that cross-covering of roles is delineated such that a trainee rep can be provided at all meetings. Individuals are not expected to be recruited externally solely for the purposes of cross-covering but appointed from within Committee from roles where natural crossover on subject matter or personal expertise or interest lie.

The majority of the members of the EMTA committee do not have their role defined within the TOR. This is to allow the EMTA committee to respond to changes of structure within RCEM, so that it is able to

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

represent trainees through all aspects of college business. The defined roles which the TOR set out are required to maintain the function of the wider committee and are known herein as the EMTA Executive. The Executive is a subset of the EMTA Committee.

#### Person Specification

Unless otherwise stated all EMTA positions will be held by individuals undertaking training within Emergency medicine in the UK, holding a National Training Number (or Dean's Reference Number).

#### Limitation

No one trainee can hold more than 3 specific duties within EMTA (not inclusive of deputising) unless under exceptional circumstances in which a plan must be outlined for when they are to step out of one or more of the roles with a recruitment process activated to prevent vacancies occurring.

#### **Appointments**

Appointments will be normally made by open application, decided by a panel made up of the EMTA Chair (or nominated deputy and some representatives of the EMTA Committee). In the event that open application fails to fill vacancies then co-option into roles will be undertaken.

Only EMTA may appoint EMTA representatives to College Committees, normally the EMTA Chair and College Committee Chair will liaise about such appointments.

#### Term of Position

All EMTA posts will be held for 2 years, unless otherwise stated, with an option to continue in post for a further 2 years on agreement between the individual, the EMTA Committee and the organisation or group the individual sits on in their representative role.

#### **EMTA Executive**

The EMTA Committee appoint an Executive, which sits within the EMTA Committee and is responsible for the organisation and coordination of the Committee's output and strategy. Decisions of the EMTA Executive are made by consensus or otherwise are referred to the EMTA Committee.

Vacancies will be advertised by the Chair or the Secretary within the EMTA Committee. Where 2 or more suitable candidates apply the post will be allocated by ballot of the EMTA Committee. Where no suitable applicants are found from within the Committee external applications will be sought and if that fails to find a suitable candidate then the EMTA Committee may co-opt a post holder.

For several of these EMTA Executive roles it is not always the intention that each is held by a separate individual.

The composition of the EMTA Executive shall be:

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

#### **EMTA Chair**

Responsible for: leading the EMTA Committee and EMTA Executive. Represents EMTA at RCEM Council. Where the Chair is unable to attend RCEM Council a deputy may be appointed from within the EMTA Committee by mutual agreement with the RCEM.

Appointment requirements: The Secretary will announce the vacancy at least 2 months before the end of the office and invite expressions of interest via email supported by a proposer and seconder.

These will be circulated to the members of EMTA and a ballot will be held electronically.

If the Chair becomes a Consultant or leaves EMTA then the post will be re-elected by an extraordinary election announced by the EMTA Secretary, expressions of interest and ballot held as for ordinary elections within 1 month.

The EMTA Committee may meet up to four times a year In the absence of the Chair a nominated individual from the EMTA Executive will Chair the meeting.

Term of Office: 18 months with the option of being re-elected for a further 18 months. After this extension he/she will be ineligible for Chair, but there is no restriction on election to the Executive or Committee in another capacity.

#### **EMTA Secretary**

Responsible for: Working closely with the EMTA Chair ensuring maintenance of internal Governance, delivery of Terms of Reference and close working with the College. The secretary will maintain an up to date list of current EMTA roles and vacancies and work with the College to advertise for these vacancies as required

Maintain a register of all EMTA committee members updated annually before the Summer EMTA committee meeting with assistance from the College.

Oversee the maintenance of, and facilitate other committee members in, the sharing and storage of files pertinent to our work

Minute meetings if RCEM administrative support is not available

Keep an up to date log of current EMTA activities, actions and outputs in time for each EMTA Committee meeting

Term of office: Elected annually by the committee at the summer meeting

#### **EMTA Treasurer**

Responsible for: Working with the College CEO, Treasurer and finance team to manage the EMTA budget

Produce an annual report to the committee of income and expenditure related to EMTA activities

Term of office: One year only, unless by exceptional majority agreement of the EMTA Committee.

#### **EMTA Conference Lead**

Appointment requirements: Nominated by the EMTA Committee 18-24 months in advance of the conference they will lead and acting as a deputy to the current conference lead until the close of that conference

Responsible for: a Conference Team composed of Committee members and supported by the RCEM Events team.

It is understood that except in exceptional circumstances this same individual will represent to the RCEM CPD committee and assist the RCEM events team in the delivery content from EMTA and trainees at RCEM conferences and study days together with the Deputy Conference Lead.

#### **Deputy Conference Lead**

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

Responsible for: The Deputy would be expected to form part of the Conference Team and Lead on the subsequent year's conference. The Deputy Conference Lead should also provide cross-cover for the CPD Rep.

#### **EMTA Survey Lead**

Responsible for: the writing and delivery of the annual EMTA Survey and schedule for release, dissemination and publication, which should be shared with RCEM Council and the relevant RCEM Committees and associated bodies

#### **EMTA Regional Reps Lead**

Responsible for: Working closely with RCEM to maintain and update the contact list of regional representatives across the United Kingdom, as appointed by the training region, and ensuring that direct communication between them and EMTA exists and delivers good quality two way dialogue between the EMTA Committee and representative around the country

Appointment requirements: This role will usually be taken on by the EMTA Secretary

#### **EMTA Rep to ATDG**

Responsibilities: Two representatives from each speciality are invited to attend the Academy of Medical Royal Colleges Trainee Doctors Group.

Appointment Requirements: It is usual that one of these is the EMTA Chair and the other appointed from within the EMTA Committee and reviewed on an annual basis.

#### **EMTA Immediate Past Chair**

Responsible for: assisting the EMTA Chair

Appointment requirements: immediate past EMTA Chair

Term of Office: 12 months

#### **EMTA Alumni**

Duties: It is understood that one or two individuals who have held prominent roles in the EMTA Committee will continue to benefit EMTA from their experience and knowledge.

Appointment requirements: by invitation from the EMTA Committee

Term of Office: It is not expected that formal recognition of this role will persist beyond 24 months post-CCT

#### **EMTA Website and Social Media Secretary**

Responsible for: overseeing the management of our website and social media content and ensuring the expected professional standards and Code of Conduct are met.

Appointment requirements: It is anticipated that this role will be appointed alongside another role held within the EMTA Committee

#### **EMTA QECC Lead**

Responsible for: To manage the group of trainee representatives to the Quality and Emergency Care Cluster, particularly those reps of the Special Interest Groups in order to more effectively manage this large cohort of trainee reps who may not all, otherwise, hold significant responsibility within the EMTA Committee.

Appointment requirements: EMTA will appoint from within the EMTA Committee with the office holder having usually held previous experience, and currently holding a role, within the RCEM Quality Cluster and will continue to attend RCEM QECC meetings together with other trainee reps.

#### **Responsibilities & Expectations**

The Emergency Trainees' Association exists as a Committee of the Royal College of Emergency Medicine. EMTA's primary function regards the representation of trainees' in Emergency Medicine in the United Kingdom. It is recognised that effective delivery of this strategy will, on occasion, require deviation from the views and processes of the College. Furthermore, it is important for trainees that EMTA is not seen as synonymous with or indistinguishable from the College and our communication

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

and actions with them must respect that. As a representative body of trainees it may occasionally be necessary for EMTA to espouse different opinions to the mainstream of RCEM in order to advocate faithfully for trainees and training. It is further understood that EMTA recognises that its position within the College structure carries with it the responsibility to conduct itself with professionalism and protection of the College reputation and compliance with Charity Commission regulations.

#### **EMTA Committee**

It is the responsibility of the EMTA Committee to represent trainees' views by membership of the relevant committees of the Royal College of Emergency Medicine and to ensure dialogue between EMTA Committee and the Royal College.

EMTA Reps in College Committees or Groups are expected to abide by the rules and standards set out by RCEM, the relevant Committees' Terms of Reference and Codes of Conduct.

In their representative role Committee members are expected to provide insight into the trainee perspective on matters arising, maintain vigilance for policy which may have adverse outcomes to trainees generally or minority trainee sub-groups (e.g. LTFT, dual trained, protected characteristics) and advocate for changes which can improve the quality and equitability of training delivery in the UK for all trainees.

Individuals standing on this Committee have a personal responsibility to be present (either in person or through appropriate media) for two thirds of all meetings. Such individuals are expected to take on a stream of work such as preparing documents, gathering information, providing Royal College approved advice to individuals or organisations and to complete activities in a timely fashion. The EMTA Committee may remove Committee Members who fail to meet these requirements.

EMTA Reps are expected to provide adequate notice if they are unable to attend their meeting, both to RCEM and to the EMTA Executive such that alternative arrangements can be made.

EMTA Reps are expected to report back from every meeting they attend in a trainee representative role such that shared learning, action points and progress points are communicated. This communication will occur via an agreed process of documentation and storage in an area accessible to the rest of the Committee

It is the reserved power of the Chair of the relevant Committee or group, by agreement with the EMTA Chair, to terminate an individual trainee representative's role. Any such termination is subject to an appeal which must be made to the Vice President Membership of the College within 7 days of the termination, the Vice President Membership may convene a panel of up to three Officers of the College to consider and decide the outcome of an appeal.

If EMTA Reps feel their voice is not being appropriately represented within College Committees or groups this should be escalated via the EMTA Chair.

All members are responsible for providing a suitable handover of information to those who are taking their post and responsibilities including but not limited to appropriate contributions to the 'How we Work' document.

#### **EMTA Executive**

Maintenance and administration of the EMTA Code of Conduct ensuring it undergoes regular review and adherence by all concerned parties.

To provide executive decision on strategy, communications and direction of the Committee, particularly in supporting trainee engagement, position statements, campaigns and both targeted and broader work designed to communicate with trainees, the College and associated bodies.

Working with RCEM to ensure high quality Trainee Representation is available to the College and associated bodies.

To maintain transparent and open dialogue with RCEM in ensuring that the core values of both organisations are maintained and respected.

Routine review of EMTA Committee positions, working with RCEM to anticipate vacancies and advertise for their recruitment as required

Ensure accountability and governance of EMTA is maintained through clear record keeping, file storage and clear communication with the broader Committee

To deliver the Annual EMTA Survey of Emergency Medicine Trainees and disseminate their findings

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

To develop and maintain open channels of communication with trainees in a variety of formats including website, social media, email, face to face and in print as required to meet our core objectives and responsibilities

To organise an annual EMTA Conference

Develop, with the assistance of College personnel, an annual budget and monitor financial performance against the budget.

Members of the executive, including the Chair can be removed from post by ballot of the EMTA committee requiring a simple majority or a tie

#### Meetings

The EMTA Committee will normally hold formal meetings three times a year. These meetings may provide opportunity for senior representatives within the College to meet with EMTA to discuss matters pertaining to training or broader working relations. It is understood that EMTA may, however, request that certain protected time is allowed for elements of the meeting to remain 'closed' such that internal business can be discussed and resolved. These meetings may occur by a combination of face-to-face and teleconference.

It is the expectation that EMTA Committee members attend a minimum of two thirds of the meetings, at least one of which should be face to face. Any Committee members unable to attend a meeting should provide adequate notice to the EMTA Secretary of the reasons for this.

#### **Quorum and Voting for EMTA Committee**

Most decisions are reached by consensus agreement however a motion is put to a vote provided it is proposed and seconded by separate members of the EMTA Committee. The EMTA Chair will call for a vote by a show of hands or secret ballot at his or her discretion. A secret ballot may be requested by any member present in the meeting and must be facilitated and counted by 2 members of the EMTA Executive.

The quorum is one third of the EMTA Committee Members, the EMTA Chair, plus 2 individuals who hold Executive roles.

In the event of a tie the EMTA Chair has the casting vote which may be used at his or her discretion.

In the absence of the Chair and where the vote cannot be deferred to another date, a deputy nominated from amongst the Committee members, usually the Secretary, shall act as the Chair for the purposes of voting.

#### **Finances**

There will be an operational budget for EMTA and its Executive Committee. This will form part of the College wider budget which is decided upon by the Trustees and set annually.

The EMTA Treasurer and Executive will need to prepare an annual budget for the work of EMTA with support from College personnel so that this can be included in the overall College budgeting process as determined by the College Trustees. Once a budget is set then this needs to be monitored and managed using the reports provided by the College Finance Team so that the budget can be managed effectively.

The College has established a Restricted Fund representing EMTA reserves which can be utilised for the benefit of Emergency Medicine Trainees. Decisions regarding this Fund are made by the EMTA Committee.

Expenses are subject to the RCEM Expenses Policy.

#### **RCEM** commitments

- 1. Support the use of Professional Leave for EMTA recognising the demands roles place on trainees.
- 2. Promote a culture in which such work is recognised as valuable to the trainee, trainees they represent, patients and the NHS by improving, including recognition of EMTA contribution to RCEM publications where appropriate.
- 3. Support the EMTA executive in the running of the committee through appropriate administrative and financial support
- 4. Hold a formal meeting between the EMTA Chair and College CEO at least once annually

5. Ensure all requests for trainee representation to RCEM Committees, Special Interest Groups or other Working Groups are made through the EMTA Committee.

#### **Dismissal**

Failure to abide by the terms of reference may lead to disciplinary action. Any disciplinary action resulting from an allegation will be managed by the EMTA Chair (unless the allegation is against the EMTA Chair in which case another Officer of EMTA will undertake the management role). The sanction for any disciplinary matter may be decided by the EMTA Chair and may include termination of membership of EMTA, recession of office or otherwise as the Chair determines. Any such determination is subject to an appeal which must be made to the Vice President Membership of the College within 7 days of the determination. To deal with this the Vice President Membership may convene a panel of up to three Officers of the College to consider and decide the outcome of an appeal.

#### **Change of Terms**

Modification of the Terms of Reference must be agreed with RCEM Council based on proposals recommended by the EMTA Committee.

## Forum for EM Specialty And Specialist Doctors (EMSAS)

EMSAS is constituted under the ordinances. It forms part of the membership cluster, with the Responsible Officer being the Vice President Membership. The committee shall have the following terms of reference.

#### Remit

To provide a focus for emergency medicine doctors who are not in substantive consultant or training posts in the UK

To encourage active involvement of all doctors in the afore mentioned group to shape the development of Emergency Medicine as a specialty and improve their own educational/training experience

To provide a structure for EMSAS doctors to influence College policy and highlight issues specific to them, and to represent their views on Council and RCEM Committees.

#### Membership

All emergency medicine doctors who are not in substantive consultant or training posts have previously been considered as members of EMSAS.

The composition of the EMSA Executive shall be:

Chair: usually also the RCEM Council representative

Immediate Past Chair or Vice Chair

Secretary

Treasurer

Academy of Medical Royal Colleges representative

Training Standards Committee representative

**EMSAS** Conference Lead

One of the College Officers may choose to attend Executive meetings

The EMSASEMSAS committee shall include all members of the Executive and any other representatives to RCEM committees or task and finish groups.

Quoracy for the Executive meeting shall be four of the seven EMSAS representatives. Quoracy for the committee shall be four of the seven trainee EMSA members plus at least three other representatives

EMSAS shall maintain a Regional Representatives Group, a network of regional representatives across all regional boards, to facilitate awareness of any reginal issues. This will also include representatives on the national boards.

The Chair shall be a Staff or Associate Specialist doctor working in Emergency Medicine who is a Member of the Royal College of Emergency Medicine and who has sat on the EMSAS committee during the last 3 years. The appointment of the Chair shall be made by ballot of EMSAS members. This process will be handled by the office manager of RCEM

### Responsibilities

Ensure the views of EMSASEMSAS doctors are represented within the Royal College of Emergency Medicine and to ensure two-way communication between them and the College.

Ensure the views of EMSAS doctors are represented outwards, and to other linked organisations

Provide advice to, and nominate representatives to, the Royal College and its committees upon invitation.

Provide information and support for EMSAS doctors and EMSAS-related issues to members

Promote research and academic achievement by emergency medicine

Provide regular contributions to the EMJ supplement to update EMSAS doctors on current issues

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

Appoint a Conference Lead for the EMSAS Annual Conference, responsible for design and approval of the programme, to liaise with the Events Team Manager who will arrange for the logistical activities to be provided by the Events Team.

In all activity manage reputational risk to the College and seek to ensure that there is alignment with relevant College strategy, policy and action

Manage EMSAS budget within the College standing financial instructions

Advise Council on any changes suggested to the TOR of the committee

Keep minutes of Executive, Committee and other meetings which should be circulated to the Vice President Membership, Dean, and CEO. Ensure minutes of outside bodies on which EMSAS is represented (e.g. Academy of Royal Colleges) are circulated to the relevant Responsible Officer

**Meetings:** These would normally be held at the EMSAS Spring meeting and during the EMSAS annual conference in order to minimise costs. Additional meetings may be called in exceptional circumstances and the use of teleconference will be considered.

## **Sustainable Working Practices Committee**

This Committee has the following terms of reference.

#### Remit

Devise a strategy and work programme for approval by Council focussed on improving sustainability of the working life of emergency physicians and improving the working conditions in the workforce in Emergency Medicine. Develop a strategy for assisting with revalidation and remediation.

#### Membership

Chair by appointment

In the absence of the chair a nominated deputy is to chair the meeting.

Members (4-12) by appointment:

To include consultant representation will be sought from the English regions, Wales, Northern Ireland, Republic of Ireland and Scotland.

Nursing representative

Trainee representative (nominated by EMTA)

SAS representative (nominated by EMSAS)

Lay representative (nominated by LAG) 3 years

Administrator (Ex-Officio) The Administrator is an ex-officio member and must attend the meeting to record the minutes. The Administrator will not have any voting rights. On-Going

**Meetings:** it shall meet by in person or telephone conference when appropriate subject to budget constraints.

# Sustainable Working Practices Committee: Short Life Working Party looking at the older emergency clinician

This Committee has the following terms of reference.

#### Remit

A 12-month short life working party formed to complete the following outputs:

- A written document exploring the issues faced by older emergency clinicians, including suggested good practice for EM leaders and organisations
- E-learning / virtual content
- Submit proposal for study day, inclusion in future SWPC study day or contribution to other RCEM events

#### Membership

Chair by appointment from the below members:

Consultant representative

SAS doctor representative

ACP representative

WEMSIG representation

**Emergency Nursing representative** 

EDI representative

Faculty of Occupational Medicine

BMA representative (pension specialist)

In the absence of the chair a nominated deputy is to chair the meeting.

Administrator (Ex-Officio) - The Administrator is an ex-officio member and must attend the meeting to record the minutes. The Administrator will not have any voting rights.

**Meetings:** it shall meet by video conference when appropriate subject to budget constraints.

## **Gender Equity Committee**

#### **Remit and Objectives**

This Committee will make recommendations to Council in order to develop a College strategy to support women in emergency medicine including covering the following:

- Increase awareness about gender issues in medicine.
- Access resources to fuel discussion about gender topics.
- Foster and facilitate a culture of open communication about gender-specific issues.
- Construct solutions to emphasize the positive and mitigate the negative consequences of gender bias.
- Develop strategies to promote wellness, career sustainment, and career progression.
- Ensuring that the College takes into account the experience of all genders in its activities.
- Contributing to the development of College policies.
- Contributing to development and delivery of CPD events as requested.
- Responding to requests for comments from Council, its Boards and Committees.
- Highlighting the work of the College whilst safeguarding the College's reputation.

To fulfil this remit, the Chair will liaise with the Vice-President Membership, President and Chief Executive of the College to determine how best to utilise the skills and experience of the members. This may include involvement in College projects and Committee work on an issue-by-issue basis.

#### Membership

The Committee membership is as follows:

- A Vice President of the College
- Committee Chair
- Member
- Fellow
- EMTA rep
- EMSAS rep
- ACP Forum rep
- Lay member
- Director of Education
- Membership will also include up to 5 appointed members

### LAY ADVISORY GROUP

Remit of the Lay Advisory Group

#### **Objectives**

The Council has established the Lay Advisory Group (LAG) to provide advice from a lay perspective on the standards of care and training in Emergency Medicine.

#### Constitution

The LAG has an advisory role and reports to the Council. The LAG remit covers the following:

- Highlighting areas of patient and carer concern to the Royal College and Council and advise on appropriate action
- Ensuring that the Royal College takes into account the patient, carer and public perspective in all appropriate activities.
- Being a resource for the Royal College to enable the delivery of a professional service that meets the needs and aspirations of patients, carers and the public.
- Developing patient, carer and public involvement in Royal College activities
- Developing patient information and education in Emergency Medicine
- Contributing to the development of Royal College policies
- Ensuring that decisions are made according to the Royal College's role in protecting the public interest, and in promoting high professional standards
- Responding to requests for comments from Council, its Boards and Committees
- Highlighting the work of the Royal College whilst safeguarding the Royal College's reputation.

To fulfil this remit the Chair of the Lay Group will liaise with the President and Chief Executive of the Royal College to determine how best to utilise the skills and experience of the lay members, having regard for their time available and budgetary constraints. This may include involvement in Royal College projects and Committee work on an issue by issue basis, as well as sitting on some Royal College Committees.

### **Appointment process**

The Chair of the LAG will consider liaising with the Nominations and Appointments Committee (NomCom) to facilitate appointments to the LAG.

#### Membership

The composition of the Lay Advisory Group shall be determined by the Royal College Council. There shall be a minimum of six and a maximum of 25 members of the Lay Advisory Group, to include those Lay people appointed to sit on Regional and National Boards. Any member of Council may attend meetings of the Lay Advisory Group as an ex-officio member.

The term of office for the Members will be three years subject to a maximum service of two terms of office.

There shall normally be four meetings per year normally held at the Royal College's offices. All members of the Committee shall be advised of the business to be transacted at any meeting even if they are unable to be present.

#### Chair

The Lay Group shall nominate and make recommendations to Council to appoint a Chair from amongst its numbers. The term of office for the Chair will be for three years.

The Chair is a member of the Council and will report to the Council. If the Chair is unable to attend a meeting of Council, the Chair will nominate a deputy from the Lay Advisory Group to attend.

In the absence of the chair a nominated deputy is to chair the meeting.

### **NOMINATIONS & APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE**

#### 1. Constitution of the Committee

- 1.1. The Trustees resolved to appoint a Nomination And Appointments Committee (the "Committee"), which is a committee reporting directly to the Trustees.
- 1.2 The Committee will meet as often as business dictates subject to budget constraints.

## 2. Membership

- 2.1. Appointments to the Committee will be for a period of three years, which may be extended for one further three year period.
- 2.2. The Committee will comprise the following:
  - a) A Chairperson appointed as set out below;
  - b) a College Role Holder;
  - c) a Trustee of the College;
  - d) a representative from the Equality Diversity & Inclusion Committee;
  - e) a lay member appointed from the Lay Group;
  - f) a representative from Council;
  - g) a non-executive member appointed as described in 2.5 below;
  - h) two members appointed from within the College membership.
- 2.3 The Chief Executive or in his absence his Deputy shall act as the Committee Secretary but shall not vote.
- 2.4. The Chair of the Committee shall be appointed by a process of open advertisement of the opportunity inviting applications, which shall then be decided by interview by a panel convened by the Trustees for the purpose.
- 2.5 The non-executive member shall be appointed by a process of open advertisement of the opportunity inviting applications, which shall then be decided by interview by a panel of three persons convened by the Chairperson of this Committee, a Trustee and the Chief Executive.

### 3. Duties and Authority

- 3.1. The responsibilities of the Committee shall be to:
- 3.1.1. Prepare for the Trustees approval a recruitment plan setting out how it will appoint to vacancies that are to be filled.
- 3.1.2 Appoint the eight members of the Trustee Board, which are four lay members and four members of the College. To do this it will set and regularly review the criteria for identifying and nominating candidates based on the description of the role and capabilities required for individual appointments. In the event that the Trustees decide to appoint a Chair of Trustees then the appointment will be made by this Committee after a process of open application and interview.
- 3.1.3 Periodically review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge, background and experience) required of the Trustee Board compared to its current position, and make recommendations to the Board with regard to any changes.
- 3.1.4. Be responsible for identifying and nominating for approval of the Trustees, candidates to fill vacancies as and when they arise. In identifying suitable candidates the Committee shall

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

- advertise the vacancy widely and subject to budget may seek the services of an appropriate agency to assist in the search;
- consider candidates from a wide range of backgrounds;
- consider candidates on merit and against objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board or Committee it is recruiting for, including gender, taking care that appointees have enough time available to devote to the position.
- before appointment is made, evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board or Committee and, in light of this evaluation, prepare a description of the role and capabilities required for a particular appointment.
- keep up to date and fully informed about strategic issues and commercial changes affecting the College and the sector in which it operates.
- ensure that on appointment, a formal letter of appointment is issued setting out clearly
  what is expected of them in terms of time commitment, service and involvement
  outside Board meetings.
- 3.1.7 The Committee may be asked by the Trustees to recommend a shortlist of suitable candidates selected against objective criteria for other College Committees/positions using the processes set out in this terms of reference or otherwise as determined by the Trustees.
- 3.2. The Committee shall also make recommendations to the Trustee Board concerning:
- 3.2.1. Membership of the Corporate Governance Committee, in consultation with the Chair of that Committee.
- 3.2.2. The re-appointment of any Board member at the conclusion of their specified term of office, having given due consideration to their performance and ability to continue to contribute to the Board in light of the knowledge, skills and experience required.
- 3.3. The Committee is authorised to seek any information it requires from any employee of the College in order to perform its duties.
- 3.4. The Committee is authorised by the Trustees to obtain, at the College's expense, outside legal or other professional advice on any matters within its reference, subject to budget.

#### 4. Meetings and Quorum

4.1. Only members of the Committee have the right to attend Committee meetings. However, the following may attend by invitation:

President

Vice President

Human Resources Manager

- 4.2. The Chief Executive, or his nominee, shall act as Secretary of the Committee, but shall not be a voting member of the Committee.
- 4.3. Any four voting Members which includes the Chairman shall constitute a guorum.
- 4.4. A duly convened meeting of the Committee at which a quorum is present shall be competent to exercise all or any of the authorities, powers and discretions vested in or exercisable by the Committee.
- 4.5. The Committee normally meets at times that the Chair of the Committee deems appropriate.
- 4.6. The Secretary of the Committee shall minute the proceedings and resolutions of meetings of the Committee including recording the names of those present and in attendance.
- 4.7. Minutes of the meeting will be circulated to all members of the Committee.

## 5. Reporting responsibilities

- 5.1. The Committee shall make whatever recommendations to the Board it deems appropriate on any area within its remit where action or improvement is needed.
- 5.2. The Committee shall make a statement in the annual report about its activities and the process used to make appointments, and explain if external advice or open advertising has not been used.

### 6. Other matters

6.1. The Committee shall, at least once a year, review its own performance, constitution and terms of reference to ensure its maximum effectiveness and recommend any changes it considers necessary to the Board for approval.

## **QUALITY CLUSTER**

### **Informatics Committee**

The Informatics Committee is a committee of Council. It shall have the following terms of reference:

**Definitions** 

<u>Informatics</u>: The collection, analysis and use of data; the use of information technology and its governance in Emergency Medicine and related disciplines.

<u>Casemix</u>: The measures of acuity, resource use, costs and quality in Emergency Medicine and related disciplines.

<u>Funding</u>: The mechanism by which Emergency Medicine and related disciplines are funded in the UK and Ireland.

#### Remit

To lead and support the development of effective Informatics in Emergency Medicine in the UK and Ireland.

To advise and liaise with the National Health Service and linked bodies, the Royal Colleges and other national bodies regarding Informatics, Casemix and Funding in Emergency Medicine.

To work with other committees of the Royal College of Emergency Medicine to develop standards, quidance and measures for Emergency Medicine and related disciplines.

To communicate the work of the Informatics Committee to the Fellows and Members of the Royal College through the Informatics section of the Royal College website and by liaison.

#### Membership

The chair of the Informatics Committee will be a current consultant in Emergency Medicine.

Chair, a minimum of 3 persons is to comprise the Committee. At present, it comprises:

Chair by appointment (for a term of three years).

In the absence of the chair a nominated deputy is to chair the meeting.

Members (4-12) by appointment with consultant representation will be sought from the English regions, Wales, Northern Ireland, Republic of Ireland and Scotland.

Nursing representative

Trainee representative (nominated by EMTA)

SAS representative (nominated by EMSAS)

Lay representative (nominated by LAG)

ACP representative

Administrator (Ex-Officio) The Administrator is an ex-officio member and must attend the meeting to record the minutes. The Administrator will not have any voting rights.

The committee may co-opt other members as required subject to budget.

## Responsibilities

The Committee reports to Council.

The Chair of the Informatics Committee will:

- Attend Royal College meetings as requested.
- Chair Committee teleconferences or face-to-face meetings at least twice a year.

## TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

- Coordinate the development of Informatics in Emergency Medicine.
- Ensure the Royal College is appropriately represented on national bodies that relate to Informatics, Casemix or Funding.
- Provide verbal and written reports to the Royal College Council and Royal College Officers as appropriate.

### Members of the Informatics Committee will:

- Work with the committee to deliver its objectives on time.
- Physically/ virtually attend at least one Informatics meeting per year.
- Participate in teleconferences and online workstreams as requested.

## **Service Design & Configuration Committee**

The Service Design & Configuration Committee shall have the following terms of reference:

#### Remit

The objective of this Committee is to coordinate all service design and delivery policy on behalf of the Royal College.

#### Membership

The composition of the Service Design & Configuration Committee shall be determined by the Committee Chair, a minimum of 3 persons is to comprise the Committee. At present, it comprises:

Chair by appointment.

In the absence of the chair a nominated deputy is to chair the meeting.

Members by appointment (no more than 10):

To include consultant representation will be sought from the English regions, Wales, Northern Ireland, Republic of Ireland and Scotland.

Nursing representative

Trainee representative (nominated by EMTA)

SAS representative (nominated by EMSAS)

Lay representative (nominated by LAG

Administrator (Ex-Officio) The Administrator is an ex-officio member and must attend the meeting to record the minutes. The Administrator will not have any voting rights. On-Going

The committee may co-opt other members as required subject to budget

#### Responsibilities

The committee reports to Council and will support the Royal College with policy development with regard to:

- 1) What does a good, modern Emergency Department look like?
- 2) What does a good emergency care system look like?

The Committee will take into account:

- Capability
- Structure and configuration
- Process and flow
- Outcomes
- Remote and rural services

The committee will consider metrics and benchmarking

Where other Royal College committees and groups have, or are undertaking work: the SDC will simply signpost this work, or draw upon it.

The committee's output will be geared towards those involved in designing, commissioning, leading and delivering emergency medicine systems, at strategic and operational levels. It will also be geared towards increasing understanding of emergency care systems.

**Meetings** are held at least 3 times a year and at other times as decided by the group. Where possible they should be arranged to coincide with other RCEM committee meetings, and if members are unable to attend they should be encouraged to join the meeting by teleconferencing.

## Individual responsibilities

Individuals who are elected to the committee have a personal responsibility. They will be expected to be an ambassador for the service design and configuration work of the Royal College, supporting, explaining and reinforcing the Royal College strategy.

Fellows and members may apply to be a member of the committee.

## **Environmental Special Interest Group**

The Environmental SIG is a sub-committee of and reports to the Service Design & Delivery Committee. It has the following terms of reference.

#### Remit

Devise an environmental policy and work programme for the specialty for approval by the Executive Committee focussed on reducing the environmental impact of the specialty of emergency medicine.

To advise the CEO on environmental performance and progress to achieve net-zero goals.

### Membership

The first Chair will be appointed by a process of and interview as described in the standing instructions governing Committees of this College. With up to 10 other members appointed or co-opted as required, subject to budget constraints. To have other members from College Committees such as EMTA, EMSAS, Lay Group as required.

## Meetings

To reduce its environmental impact the SIG shall meet by email or telephone conference when appropriate, subject to budget constraints.

## **Environmental Special Interest Group: GreenED Working Group**

The GreenED Working Group reports to the Environmental Special Interest Group (ESIG).

It has the following terms of reference.

#### Remit

To develop and deliver, subject to the approval of the ESIG, the concept of the 'Green ED' so that it can be rolled out initially across UK emergency departments, this includes:

Reviewing the progress of the *GreenED* pilot sites and using this to develop a body of knowledge that can be moulded into a *GreenED* product

- Implementing the pilot sites
- Creating and delivering the *GreenED* product (framework and associated tools/materials)
- Identifying opportunities to develop the wider engagement of the specialty in the GreenED concept
- Marketing the GreenED product once created
- Devise and seek budget to develop the project
- Identify any fundraising or collaboration opportunities to support the project

## Membership

To include:

ESIG members:

The membership will comprise 10-12 (number of) members from ESIG who shall be:

- · The WG Chair
- ESIG Chair
- ESIG Vice- Chair
- One other member
- RCEM CEO or nominated deputy
- ACP representative
- Pilot site leads (up to 3)
- Up to 2x (number of) other co-opted members

The founding ESIG members shall be: James Chan, Lindsay Merry, Gordon Miles (CEO), Sandy Robertson (ESIG chair), Tim Spruell (ESIG vice-chair), Zoe Steley (GreenED WG chair and Royal Free pilot site lead), Hannah Webb (Brighton pilot site lead)., name of EMTA, ACP Forum and EMSAS reps.

Representatives from other pilot sites: as appointed

**Meetings:** The group shall meet by telephone or video conference when appropriate.

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

## Same Day Emergency Care Special Interest Group

This Group is a Sub-Committee of the Service Design & Delivery Committee and has the following terms of reference.

#### Remit

Devise a strategy and work programme for approval by Council focussed on improving same day emergency care.

#### Membership

Chair by appointment

In the absence of the chair a nominated deputy is to chair the meeting. 3 years from the first meeting. Members (4-12) by appointment:

To include consultant representation will be sought from the English regions, Wales, Northern Ireland, Republic of Ireland and Scotland.

Trainee representative (nominated by EMTA)

SAS representative (nominated by EMSAS)

Lay representative (nominated by LAG) 3 years

ACP representative

Administrator (Ex-Officio) The Administrator is an ex-officio member and must attend the meeting to record the minutes. The Administrator will not have any voting rights.

**Meetings:** it shall meet by in person or telephone conference when appropriate subject to budget constraints.

## **Quality In Emergency Care Committee**

The Quality In Emergency Care Committee shall have the following terms of reference:

#### Remit

To develop and review guidelines for the specialty of emergency medicine

To develop Consensus Based Best Practice Statements for the speciality of Emergency Medicine

To set and monitor standards of Clinical Care, Best Practice and Clinical Procedures in Emergency Departments

To produce quality improvement tools for Emergency Departments that will encourage uniform data collection and enable QIPs to be conducted in a systematic way

To develop and disseminate patient safety strategies for the speciality of Emergency Medicine

To develop and maintain the Quality section of the Royal College website

To consider requests for RCEM endorsement from other organisations

To consider requests regarding surveys of the membership from other organisations, along with the Research Committee

To liaise with other organisations (including other medial royal colleges) regarding issues relevant to the practise of emergency medicine.

#### Membership

At present Membership of this Committee comprises:

Chair, who is elected by the members of the QEC and appointed by the Royal College Council. He / she will have been a consultant for 5 years and a member of the committee for 2 years prior to appointment. The Chair will sit on the Royal College Council and Executive Committee and be an exofficio member of the Service Design & Delivery Committee.

Chairs of Subcommittees. Subcommittee chairs will be a current consultant. Applications will be invited by the Royal College of Emergency Medicine, and the most suitable applicant will be recommended by the QEC and appointed by the Royal College Council

1 representative of doctors in training, selected by the Emergency Medicine Trainees Association

1 representative of SAS doctors, selected by EMSAS

1 or 2 representatives of the non-medical professions relevant to emergency care, co-opted representatives

Up to 36 co-opted members Co-opted and selected for the specific expertise they bring to the committee. Broad regional representation will be sought wherever possible.

1 lay representative, selected by LAG

Administrator Quality Manager, or deputy nominated by Quality Manager

## **Meetings**

The Chairs of the Sub-Committees will give verbal and written reports of the activities of their subcommittees at meetings.

The Committee will meet 4 times each year. Two of the annual meetings will be "full" meetings, to which all members of the Committee and Subcommittees are invited. These also provide an opportunity for the Subcommittees to meet in person. The other two meetings will be business meetings of the main Committee and Subcommittee Chairs only. Other business will be conducted by teleconferencing and e-mail.

#### **Best Practice Sub-Committee**

The Best Practice Sub-Committee of the Quality In Emergency Care Committee. It shall have the following terms of reference:

#### Remit

To develop consensus based best practice statements and guidance for the speciality of Emergency Medicine

To advise the NHS, DOH, CQC, the Royal Colleges and other national bodies who have an interest in best clinical practice in Emergency Departments.

To develop and maintain the RCEM Guidance section of the Royal College website

#### Membership

Chair who is appointed and will be a current consultant in emergency medicine with a demonstrable interest in the identification and application of best clinical practice. Applications will be invited by the Royal College of Emergency Medicine, and the most suitable applicant will be recommended by the QEC and appointed by the Royal College Council. The term of office will be 3 years, which is renewable for a further 3 years at the discretion of the QEC.

- 4 10 co-opted members who have specific expertise to bring to the committee. These co-opted members may include doctors in training, nursing or other representatives, as well as consultants in Emergency Medicine 3 years, which is renewable for a further 3 years at the discretion of the QEC.
- 1 Lay representative, nominated by the Lay Advisory Group, renewable for 5 years at QEC discretion
- 6 SIG Chairs, who will have specific expertise in one each of the following areas of emergency medicine:

Toxicology

Older People in Emergency Medicine

Public Health Emergency Medicine

(3 years, which is renewable for a further 3 years at the discretion of the QEC).

Administrator, Quality Manager, or deputy nominated by Quality Manager, ex-officio

#### Responsibilities

Chair of the Best Practice Subcommittee

Attend QEC meetings at least 3 times per year.

Chair subcommittee teleconferences, coordinate e-mail traffic or face-to-face meetings as necessary.

Co-ordinate the development of Best Practice Statements and guidance for the speciality.

Provide verbal and written reports to QEC

Regular communication with Chair of QEC and QEC administrator.

Liaise with other bodies with specific expertise in best clinical practice.

#### Co-opted members

Work with the subcommittee to produce Best Practice Statements for the speciality.

Attend at least one full QEC meeting per year.

Participate in one or more face-to-face meetings of the subcommittee per year.

## **Older People in Emergency Medicine SIG**

The Older People in Emergency Medicine SIG reports to the Best Practice Sub-Committee. It has the following terms of reference.

#### Remit

Devise a strategy and work programme for approval by the Best Practice Sub-Committee focussed on improving the care for older people and frail patients presenting at the Emergency Department.

#### Membership

The Chair will be nominated by the QEC Chair or Exec, with up to 8 other members co-opted as required, subject to budget constraints.

The term of office will be three years initially, extendable for a further two years at the discretion of the QEC Chair.

#### **Meetings**

The SIG shall meet by email or telephone conference when appropriate, subject to budget constraints.

#### **Public Health EM SIG**

The Public Health EM SIG reports to the Best Practice Sub-Committee. It has the following terms of reference.

#### Remit

Devise a strategy and work programme for approval by the Best Practice Sub-Committee focussed on improving public health.

## Membership

The Chair will be nominated by the QEC Chair or Exec, with up to 8 other members co-opted as required, subject to budget constraints.

The term of office will be three years, extendable for a further term at the discretion of the QEC Chair.

#### Meetings

The SIG shall meet by email or videoconference when appropriate, subject to budget constraints.

## **Toxicology SIG**

The Toxicology SIG reports to the Best Practice Sub-Committee. It has the following terms of reference.

#### Remit

Devise a strategy and work programme for approval by the Best Practice Sub-Committee focussed on improving the care for toxicology patients presenting at the Emergency Department.

#### Membership

The Chair will be nominated by the QEC Chair or Exec, with up to 8 other members co-opted as required, subject to budget constraints.

The term of office will be three years initially, extendable for a further three years at the discretion of the QEC Chair.

#### Meetings

The SIG shall meet by email or telephone conference when appropriate, subject to budget constraints.

#### **Invited Service Review Sub-Committee**

The Invited Service Review (ISR) Committee will be formed as and when needed to oversee ISRs. It shall have the following terms of reference:

#### Remit

To define for Council's agreement the proposition to offer consultancy services to healthcare organisations that require independent and external advice.

To conduct reviews in organisations in a fair, non-judgemental and diplomatic manner.

Service reviews are conducted by at least two committee members and where possible a lay representative. A member of College staff will attend where possible, to provide support to the review team.

The review will be supported by a structured set of pre-visit materials.

Reviews will vary in scope and intricacy, tailored to the ED's requirements.

The review team will consist of Consultants with the skills and experience required to resolve the issues concerned.

Reviews do not consider employment or capability issues.

To develop and maintain the Invited Service Review section of the College website.

## Membership

The Chair of the Invited Service Review Committee will be a current consultant in emergency medicine with a demonstrable interest in service design and process management.

Up to 10 co-opted members, who have specific expertise to bring to the committee. These co-opted members will include Consultants who fulfil the job description for service reviewers and a lay representative.

1 lay representative to be nominated by the Lay Advisory Group

#### Responsibilities

Chair of the Invited Services Review Committee role is described in a role profile and includes the following:

- Provide advice to a review team.
- At times to work as Lead Reviewer.
- Chair committee meetings as required.
- Co-ordinate the development and dissemination of best practice in the implementation of service reviews for the speciality of Emergency Medicine.
- Provide verbal and written reports to Council.
- To provide training for new members of the Review Team.
- Liaise with other agencies as appropriate.

Co-opted members and lay representative role is described in a role profile and includes the following:

- Work with the committee to undertake Invited Service Reviews.
- To produce reports in a timely fashion.
- To attend at least one full ISR meeting per year.

#### Meetings

The Committee as and when business requires it subject to budget constraints.

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

## **Mental Health Sub Committee**

The Mental Health Sub Committee reports to the Quality In Emergency Care Committee. It has the following terms of reference.

#### Remit

Devise a strategy and work programme for approval by the Quality in Emergency Care Committee focussed on improving the care for mental health patients presenting at the Emergency Department.

Provide advice to other national organisations and statutory bodies with regards policy development in relation to mental health patients and the Emergency Department.

#### Membership

The Chair will be nominated by the QEC Chair or Exec, with up to 8 other members co-opted as required, subject to budget constraints.

The term of office will be three years initially, extendable for a further two years at the discretion of the QEC Chair.

### Meetings

The Sub Committee shall meet by email or telephone conference when appropriate, subject to budget constraints.

## **Paediatric Emergency Medicine Professional Advisory Group**

The purpose of a Professional Advisory Group (PAG) for the care of children in EDs is to help coordinate College business and to be a resource for College and its members.

There has historically been a firm commitment by the College to improve provision of services for children, and to train emergency medicine doctors to look after children, which form around 25% of ED attendances. Consultants may train further in Paediatric Emergency Medicine (PEM), which is a route recognised by the GMC for subspecialty training 16 years ago (for both EM and Paediatric CCT-holders). However, most of the PEM care nationally is undertaken by generically trained EM clinicians in Emergency departments seeing patients of all ages.

#### Remit

To ensure that children's interests are represented within all relevant aspects of College structure / business, and that PEM is recognised and developed as both a sub-speciality, but also a normal part of practice in most emergency departments.

To provide advice and support on all aspects of paediatric emergency care (at both core and specialist levels of clinical practice) to the College and its members. To help facilitate internal and external requests for representation on matters or documents relating to paediatric emergency care, ensuring that the College membership is fairly represented and is engaged.

#### Membership

The composition of the Paediatric Medicine Professional Advisory group shall be:

Chair by appointment (with a 3 year term)

Deputy Chair (to be selected from other Committee members listed below)

2 RCEM members or fellows of whom at least one must practice in general (i.e. nontertiary) emergency departments.

Training Standards Committee PEM Lead

QEC PEM Lead

Curriculum Committee PEM Lead

RCPCH PEM representative

RCEM Representative on the Intercollegiate Committee for Emergency Services to Children (may be combined with another role)

An EMTA representative may be appointed but it is not considered essential

A Lay Member may be appointed from the RCEM Lay Group

A college Vice President

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

Additional Members may be co-opted subject to budget and the approval of the Chair

Where possible the membership should also aim to ensure that there is good regional representation from across the UK. Membership will be opened for expressions of interest against an agreed person specification.

#### Responsibilities of the Chair:

To deliver the responsibilities of the PAG within the Terms Of Reference, and to ensure that the interests of paediatric patients and members with paediatric expertise are represented. The Chair shall ensure fairness in recruitment to the committee, and that College policy is represented. The Chair shall be a Vice President of the College

### Responsibilities of the PAG

This group will provide an expert review panel to provide support on any area related to paediatric emergency medicine. The list below is designed to consider the most common areas, but it not intended to be exhaustive:

- 1. Ad hoc requests for comments on documents or representation at events / meetings
- 2. Requests for a PEM representative from RCEM to work on specific time-limited projects (e.g. intercollegiate, other Colleges, NHS government projects) or on specific documents / guidelines (e.g. NICE guidelines etc).
- 3. Support relevant RCEM Committees on training, curriculum and exams (both for EM training and subspeciality PEM training) when requested, and

facilitate the production of training resources, including RCEM Learning

- 4. Service design and delivery including workforce issues
- 5. Supporting requests for PEM expertise for ISRs (where PEM-related concerns have been raised).
- 6. Events and study days
- 7. Over-arching strategy and policy documents relating to paediatric emergency care. This will include scanning proposed documents to ensure that PEM-specific issues have been considered
- 8. Encouragement of EM trainees to gain sub-speciality PEM training
- 9. To ensure that PEM information on the RCEM website is adequate and up to date.
- 10. To examine cross-representation and to strengthen links with the RCPCH.
- 11. To ensure that PEM develops both as a sub-speciality in centres of excellence, but also as part of day to day practice in non-specialised EDs

**Meetings:** Formal Quarterly virtual meetings with ad hoc additional meetings as required. One of the quarterly meetings per annum should be face to face.

PAG will sit within the Quality In Emergency Care Cluster of the RCEM Committee Structure but it is recognised its remit is wider than Quality in Emergency Care.

## **Pre-Hospital Emergency Medicine Professional Advisory Group**

The purpose of a Professional Advisory Group (PAG) for pre-hospital emergency medicine is to help coordinate College business and to be a resource for College and its members. It reports to Quality In Emergency Care Committee.

PHEM is an important sub-speciality within Emergency medicine and the provision of training and the curriculum for PHEM is in the hands of the Intercollegiate Board for Training In Pre Hospital Emergency Medicine. This collaborative arrangement involving a number of Colleges and Faculties is showing signs of stress as its budget commitment is causing some other Colleges to step back from their funding commitment. As PHEM is important to Emergency Medicine this College wishes to establish a Professional Advisory Group so that we can apply more leadership to the PHEM agenda.

#### Ramit

To ensure that pre-hospital emergency medicine interests are represented within all relevant aspects of College structure / business, and that PHEM continues to be recognised and developed as a subspeciality.

To provide advice and support on all aspects of pre-hospital emergency care to the College and its members. To help facilitate internal and external requests for representation on matters or documents relating to pre-hospital emergency care, ensuring that the College membership is fairly represented and is engaged.

PHEM will sit within the Quality Cluster of the RCEM Committee Structure

#### Membership

The composition of the Pre-hospital Emergency Medicine Professional Advisory group shall be:

#### Chair

Deputy Chair (to be selected from other Committee members listed below) 2 RCEM members or fellows

Training Standards Committee PHEM Lead
Curriculum Committee PHEM Lead
An EMTA representative may be appointed but it is not considered essential
A Lay Member may be appointed from the RCEM Lay Group
A College Vice President
A military representative may be appointed

The group should seek to include members with backgrounds in the ambulance service, HEMS, and BASICS to represent the spectrum of activity that goes on. Additional Members may be co-opted subject to budget and the approval of the Chair

Where possible the membership should ensure regional representation from across the UK. Membership will be opened up for expressions of interest against an agreed person specification.

#### Responsibilities of the Chair:

To deliver the responsibilities of the PAG within the Terms Of Reference, and to ensure that the interests of pre-hospital patients and members with pre-hospital expertise are represented. The Chair shall ensure fairness in recruitment to the committee, and that College policy is represented.

#### Responsibilities of the PAG

This group will provide an expert review panel to provide support on any area related to paediatric emergency medicine. The list below is designed to consider the most common areas, but it not intended to be exhaustive:

- 1. Develop our strategy to the Intercollegiate Board for Training In Pre-Hospital Emergency Medicine.
- 2. Ad hoc requests for comments on documents or representation at events /

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

### meetings.

- 3. Requests for a PHEM representative from RCEM to work on specific time-limited projects (e.g. intercollegiate, other Colleges, NHS government projects) or on specific documents / guidelines (e.g. NICE guidelines etc).
- 4. Support relevant RCEM Committees on training, curriculum and exams (both for EM training and subspeciality PHEM training) when requested, and

facilitate the production of training resources, including RCEM Learning

- 5. Service design and delivery including workforce issues
- 6. Events and study days
- 7. Over-arching strategy and policy documents relating to pre-hospital emergency care. This will include scanning relevant proposed documents to ensure that PHEM-specific issues have been considered
- 8. Encouragement of EM trainees to gain sub-speciality PHEM training
- 9. To ensure that PHEM information on the RCEM website is adequate and up to date.

**Meetings:** Formal Quarterly virtual meetings with ad hoc additional meetings as required. One of the quarterly meetings per annum should be face to face.

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

## **Quality Assurance & Improvement Sub-Committee**

The Quality Assurance & Improvement Sub-Committee of the Quality In Emergency Care Committee. It shall have the following terms of reference:

#### Remit

To develop clinical standards and Quality Improvement Programme (QIP) tools for measuring and improving the quality of care delivered by the speciality of Emergency Medicine

To run the national audit programme of the Royal College and send out reports of the individual and comparative results to participating departments

Develop the national quality improvement programme of the Royal College

To advise the NHS, NICE, DOH, CQC, the Royal Colleges and other national bodies who have an interest in the quality of care in Emergency Departments.

To develop and maintain the RCEM Standards, Clinical Audit, and Quality Improvement sections of the Royal College website

#### Membership

Chair or co-chairs, at least one of whom will be a current Consultant in Emergency Medicine with a demonstrable interest and expertise in quality improvement and clinical audit. Applications will be invited by the Royal College, and the most suitable applicant will be recommended by the QEC and appointed by the Royal College Council.

4-10 co-opted members, who have specific expertise to bring to the committee. These co-opted members may include doctors in training, nursing or other representatives, as well as Consultants in Emergency Medicine. Applications will be invited by the Royal College and selected by the Chair is discussion in discussion with the QEC.

1 Lay representative who is nominated by the Lay Advisory Group

Topic team members, working specifically to design, run and report each QIP topic.

Administrator, Quality Manager, or deputy nominated by Quality Manager ex-officio

### Responsibilities

Chair of the Standards Subcommittee

- i) Attend QEC meetings at least 3 times per year.
- ii) Chair subcommittee teleconferences, coordinate e-mail traffic or face-to-face meetings as necessary.
- iii) Co-ordinate the development of clinical standards and audit tools for the speciality.
- iv) Supervise the national audit programme
- v) Provide verbal and written reports to QEC.
- vi) Regular communication with Chair of QEC and QEC administrator.
- vii) Liaise with DOH, HCC and other relevant Royal Colleges.

#### Co-opted members

- i) Work with the subcommittee to develop auditable standards.
- ii) Help develop and test the audit tools
- iii) Work with the subcommittee to improve the quality of care in Emergency Departments.
- iv) Attend at least one full QEC meeting per year.
- v) Participate in 2 or more teleconferences or face-to-face meetings of the subcommittee per year.

### Safer Care Sub-Committee

The Safer Care Sub-Committee of the Quality In Emergency Care Committee. It shall have the following terms of reference:

#### Remit

To develop and disseminate patient safety and risk management strategies for the speciality of Emergency Medicine

To monitor and act upon NRLS safety incident data related to emergency medicine

to maintain a database of Safety Leads in all Emergency Departments

To commission and support research in conjunction with the Research Committee in the field of safety in the emergency department

To advise the NHS, DOH, CQC, the Royal Colleges and other national bodies who have an interest in risk management and patient safety in Emergency Departments

To ensure members are informed in a timely manner of key publications and resources for patient safety

To develop and maintain the Safety section of the Royal College website

### Membership

Chair who will be a current consultant in emergency medicine with a demonstrable interest in patient safety and risk management. Applications will be invited by the Royal College of Emergency Medicine, and the most suitable applicant will be recommended by the QEC and appointed by the Royal College Council.

4-10 co-opted members, who have specific expertise to bring to the Committee. These co-opted members may include doctors in training, nursing or other representatives, as well as consultants in Emergency Medicine

1 Lay representative who is nominated by the Lay Advisory Group

Administrator, Quality Manager, or deputy nominated by Quality Manager are ex-officio members

## Responsibilities

Chair of the Safer Care Subcommittee

Attend QEC meetings at least 3 times per year.

Chair subcommittee teleconferences, coordinate e-mail traffic or face-to-face meetings as necessary.

Co-ordinate the development and dissemination of safety information for the speciality of Emergency Medicine.

Provide verbal and written reports to QEC.

Regular communication with Chair of QEC and QEC administrator.

Liaise with patient safety and other bodies as appropriate.

## Co-opted members

Work with the subcommittee to improve Patient Safety in Emergency Departments.

Attend at least one full QEC meeting per year.

Participate in 2 or more teleconferences or face-to-face meetings of the subcommittee per year.

### **Trustee Board**

TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

- 1 The Trustee board of the College takes its authority and its responsibilities from two sources:
- a. Under the Charities Act 1993 the trustees of a charity are "the people responsible under the charity's governing document for controlling the management and administration of the charity, regardless of what they are called". Charity law lays a number of specific duties on all charity trustees, which are reflected in these terms of reference. In essence these are:
  - A duty of compliance with the charity's objects, its governing documents and all relevant legislation and regulation.
  - A duty of care, to ensure that the charity is well run and efficient and that professional advice is sought in order to manage risk.
  - A duty of prudence in respect of managing the charity's assets.
- b. The Royal Charter, Ordinances, Bye Laws, Regulations and Terms of Reference (its constitution) which set out who may become a trustee of the charity, how trustees are appointed and their powers.
- 1.2 The overall responsibility of the trustee board is:

To provide direction and stewardship for the College for the benefit of stakeholders as set out in the College's objects described in our Royal Charter, by:

- a. Setting the vision, mission, values and strategic direction of the charity.
- b. Monitoring and communicating performance against the strategy, its impact upon stakeholders and its corporate behaviour.
- c. Acting as the guardians of the charity's assets, both tangible and intangible, taking all due care over their security, deployment and proper application.
- d. Ensuring that the charity complies with all constitutional, legal and regulatory requirements.
- e. Ensuring that the charity's governance is of the highest possible standard. 2. Main duties Strategic direction
- 2.1 The Trustees work in partnership with the Chief Executive and other senior staff to ensure that:
- a. The constitution and rules that govern the charity, remain fit for purpose (reviewed at least every three years).
- b. There is regular review of the need for the charity and for the services it provides or could provide, and regular review of strategic plans and priorities.
- c. The charity has a clear vision, mission, set of values and strategy, and that there is a common understanding of these by trustees, staff and volunteers.
- d. Annual and operational plans and budgets, and the fundraising strategy support the vision, mission and strategy.
- e. The views of stakeholders are regularly sought and considered in developing strategy and delivering services.
- f. There is regular review of the external environment for changes that might affect the charity (environmental, political, financial, competitive, partnerships, alliances).

#### Performance management

- 2.2 The Trustees are responsible for the performance of the charity, for its impact upon beneficiaries and other stakeholders, and for its corporate behaviour by:
- a. Agreeing the mechanisms for measuring the charity's impact and progress towards its vision, mission and strategic objectives, business plans and annual budgets, and regularly considering reports on the charity's performance.
- b. Ensuring that there are policies and position statements to direct key areas of the charity's business.
- c. Ensuring that there are quality and service standards for major areas of delivery and that these are met.

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

- d. Ensuring that the major risks to the charity are regularly identified and reviewed and that systems are in place to mitigate or minimise these risks.
- e. Ensuring that there are complaint systems in place, for users and supporters.
- f. Ensuring that there are processes for trustees, staff and volunteers to report activity which might compromise the effectiveness of the charity.
- g. Employing and holding the Chief Executive to account for the management and administration of the charity, with regular constructive feedback on his/ her performance.
- h. Ensuring that the charity has effective employment policies and processes in place, to recruit, train and develop staff and volunteers Finance and assets
- 2.3 The Trustees act as the guardians of the charity's finances and other assets by:
- a. Ensuring that the charity's financial obligations are met and that there are adequate financial controls in place to ensure all money due is received and properly applied, and that all assets and liabilities are recorded.
- b. Acting reasonably and prudently in all matters relating to the charity and always in the interests of the charity.
- c. Ensuring that there is an effective fundraising strategy in place. d. Being accountable for the solvency of the charity.
- e. Reviewing the condition and use of the properties and land owned by the charity.
- f. Ensuring that intangible assets such as organisational knowledge and expertise, intellectual property, the charity's brand, good name and reputation are recognized, used and safeguarded.
- 2.4 The Trustees must:
- a. Ensure, with professional advice as appropriate, that the charity complies with all constitutional, legal, regulatory and statutory requirements.
- b. Ensure the charity complies with health and safety standards as regards its staff, volunteers and when putting on events.
- c. Understand and comply with the constitution and regulations that govern the charity.

#### Governance

- 2.5 The Trustees aim for the highest possible standard of governance by ensuring that:
- a. The charity has a governance framework that is appropriate to a charity of its size/ complexity, stage of development, and its charitable objects, and reflects the diversity of is its stakeholders. That this framework is regularly reviewed, along with the Board's performance.
- b. In consultation with the Chief Executive, the Board has the mix of skills and experience it requires to govern the charity well, and that the Board has access to, and considers, relevant external professional advice and expertise.
- c. Major decisions and policies are made by the trustees acting collectively, and that Board decisions are recorded in writing by means of minutes.
- d. The Board's delegated authority is recorded by terms of reference for board committees, job descriptions for honorary officers, trustees and key staff, and that reporting procedures back to the Board are recorded in writing and complied with.
- e. The responsibilities delegated to the Chief Executive are clearly expressed and understood, and directions given to him/ her come from the Board as a whole.
- f. There is a systematic, open and fair procedure for recruitment of trustees and of the Chief Executive.
- g. All members of the Board receive appropriate induction on their appointment and that they continue to receive appropriate advice, information and training (both individual and collective).
- h. Trustees have the College code of conduct and comply with it, and that there are mechanisms for the removal of trustees who do not abide by the code of conduct.

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE RULES

- i. In carrying out the above duties, professional advice is taken when necessary, and the advice received is recorded.
- 3. Meetings
- 3.1 The Trustee Board will meet usually 4 times (and a minimum of 3) in any calendar year. In addition, there will be one strategy review day each year.
- 3.2 The Chief Executive, Directors of Education, Engagement & External Affairs and Corporate Services and such other members of staff as the Chair may require shall be in attendance at meetings.
- 3.3 Any member of the Board unable to attend should inform the CEO prior to the meeting. If a Board member is unable to attend the possibility of attending remotely will be explored.
- 3.4 If the Chair is absent from the meeting, the Dean or Vice President Membership will act as Chair for the proceedings. In the absence of both the Dean or Vice President Membership, a Trustee will be selected by those present to act as chair for the proceedings.
- 3.5 The agenda will be drawn up by the CEO in consultation with the Chair.
- 3.6 The CEO will provide minutes of Board meetings in consultation with the Chair.
- 3.7 The CEO or nominated deputy will be responsible for communicating the proceedings of the Trustee Board to staff, advisory bodies and other stakeholders as appropriate.

#### **Remuneration Sub-Committee**

The Remuneration Committee is a Committee of the Board. It shall have the following terms of reference and shall meet when requested to do so by the Board:

#### Constitution

.

The Terms of Reference for the Remuneration Committee outlined below are defined by the Board and may be amended by the Board at any time.

The Committee has an advisory role and reports to the Board.

The Committee remit covers decision making on the following:

- a. employee remuneration;
- b. President's remuneration;
- c. Remuneration for other roles undertaken by those from the membership;
- d. Chief Executive's remuneration
- e. The Royal College of Emergency Medicine Expenses Policy

#### Membership

The Board is responsible for the appointment of members to the Remuneration Sub-Committee, for setting the term of members' appointments and for the revocation of any such appointments.

The Remuneration Committee shall comprise not less than three members. These shall be the Treasurer, the Vice President Membership and a member of the Lay Group.

The quorum shall be two Committee members one of whom should be the Committee Chairman unless he/she is unable to attend. All members of the Committee shall be advised of the business to be transacted at any meeting even if they are unable to be present.

No one other than members of the Committee is entitled to be present at Committee meetings except that the Chief Executive Officer, Director of Corporate Services and the Human Resources Manager shall normally be in attendance as a non-voting member except when issues regarding their own remuneration are discussed.

The Chair shall appoint one of the members to act as secretary to the Committee and shall produce such papers and minutes of the Committee's meetings as are appropriate, in a timely manner.

The Remuneration Committee is authorised by the Board to obtain professional advice subject to budget approval.